# Woolcock Institute of Medical Research BIENNIAL REPORT

### 2014 - 2015



Our work makes a difference to people's lives



www.woolcock.org.au



The Woolcock Institute's mission is to improve the respiratory and sleep health of all Australians through research, education, prevention and care.

Woolcock Institute of Medical Research BIENNIAL REPORT 2014 - 2015



#### CONTENTS

Who We Are	
Our Vision	4
Our Aspiration	4
Our History	4
Affiliations	4 5
Chairman's Report	6
Executive Director's Report	8
	0
Airway Physiology and Imaging	11
Allergen and Upper Airways	13
Clinical Management	14
Respiratory and Environmental Epidemiology	18
Woolcock Institute in Vietnam	21
Respiratory Technology	22
Sleep and Circadian	25
Ann Woolcock Lecture	28
Education	28
Our Clinics	29
Woolcock Workplace Gender Equality	30
New Initiatives for Research	
Centre for Lung Cancer Research	30
Woolcock Centre of Research Excellence in Emphysema	30
Research Leaders	31
Distinguished Alumni	35
Our Media Profile	37
Fundraising	37
Governance	38
Board of Directors	39
Committees	42
Our Financials	43
Our Publications	45
Our Contacts	60

### WHO WE ARE

#### **Our Vision**

A better quality of life for people with sleep, breathing and lung disorders and their families.

#### **Our Aspiration**

To build the Woolcock Institute into the pre-eminent centre for sleep and respiratory research and translation in Australasia, and one of the top four centres of its kind in the world.

#### **Our History**



The late Professor Ann Woolcock (1937–2001) established the Institute in Sydney in 1981 with a vision to become Australia's centre of excellence for respiratory research.

Originally called the Institute of Respiratory Medicine, the Institute was renamed in 2002 in honour of its founder.

The Woolcock Institute soon outgrew its first home at the Royal Prince Alfred Hospital,

Camperdown and expanded into several locations. In 2008 the Institute moved to the purpose-built laboratory and clinical complex in nearby Glebe where it remains today. The move was made possible with the generous support of the state and federal governments.

In recent years our activities have continued to grow and diversify into related areas such as paediatric sleep disorders, lung cancer and emphysema.

#### **Mission Statement**

#### The Woolcock Institute of Medical Research is Australia's leading respiratory and sleep research organisation.

With a world-class network of specialised researchers, we deal with the causes, prevention, diagnosis and treatment of respiratory disease and sleep disorders. In the words of Professor Jeffrey Drazen, Professor of Medicine, Harvard University and Editor-in-Chief of the *New England Journal of Medicine*, the Woolcock Institute is regarded as one of the top six such institutes world-wide.

The Institute has strong affiliations with many organisations including the University of Sydney, the University of Technology, Sydney (UTS), University of New South Wales (UNSW), Sydney Local Health District and several other major health districts, professional bodies, commercial companies and research funding organisations. In addition, the Woolcock Institute's scientists and clinicians collaborate with colleagues across Australia, Europe and North America and we operate a branch office in Vietnam where we are addressing the burden of tuberculosis.

Breathing and sleep disorders represent a growing burden of disease in Australia and globally. Our research teams are dedicated to tackling adult and children's sleep disorders, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder (COPD)/emphysema, lung cancer and tuberculosis. Our over-riding aim is to improve the lives of patients and their families through discovering cures, developing more effective treatments and ensuring our basic and clinical research is translated to better clinical outcomes.



Woolcock Institute of Medical Research BIENNIAL REPORT 2014 - 2015



#### Our distinctive contribution to research and clinical care for respiratory, lung and sleep disorders

#### For patients and their families

Drawing on the expertise of the Institute's leading researchers and respected clinicians, the Woolcock Institute offers a range of high quality services for sufferers of sleep and breathing disorders and referring clinicians such as GPs. Our Glebe-based "one stop shop" multidisciplinary clinic is home to some 35 clinicians from sleep and respiratory physicians to nutritionists, psychologists and sleep technicians. It is unique in Australia in offering world class sleep and circadian rhythm laboratories. This makes us a major resource for patients, GPs and their referring specialists. In addition, patients and their families make extensive use of our market-leading information on sleep and breathing disorders to better understand the nature of their condition and the treatment options available to them.

#### For researchers, clinicians and the medical community

Woolcock clinicians serve in major public and private hospitals and hold academic appointments at leading universities. Our on-site laboratories and clinical facilities are first class. The Woolcock Institute provides a venue for clinicians to see patients and laboratory space, support and research infrastructure for researchers. We also offer an e-health clinic in regional New South Wales. Our researchers and clinicians are highly sought after regionally and globally and are active in a number of countries including China, Vietnam and other parts of Asia. The Woolcock Institute provides training and education opportunities for the next generation of specialist physicians and primary care clinicians such as GPs and pharmacists, clinician researchers and scientists. We are a front line resource for those who will treat and support breathing and sleep disorder sufferers in the future.

#### For donors, corporate clients and other stakeholders

The Woolcock Institute's unique model of research, clinical services, professional services (education) and community programs enables us to collaborate productively with pharmacy and device companies, workplaces and communities around Australia to build awareness and understanding of, and improved treatments for, sleep and breathing diseases on an individual, community and population basis. We have the potential over time to develop e-health capabilities across our clinical activities which will assist us in promoting prevention strategies and models of distance service delivery. Each of the Woolcock Institute's professional education and community programs is based on the latest scientific evidence sourced from the Institute's own research and leading experts from around the globe. We also offer interested donors and corporates a range of options and modes through which they can partner with us and support our work financially.

### For governments, health services and research funders

The Woolcock Institute is a unique and irreplaceable national and international asset. No other Australian organisation - and few international comparators - offer the "bench to bedside" research and translation capability in breathing and sleep health or matches our multi-facetted range of activities. We are thus a valued source of new research outcomes as well as evidence-based treatment options and expert policy advice. In delivering the above we aim to be a facilitator of productive partnerships and a highly effective program manager. The benefit for governments is that the Woolcock Institute aggregates and makes available a unique breadth and depth of breathing and sleep disorders expertise and treatment approaches. The benefit we offer to research funders is our capacity to conduct basic, applied, clinical, public health and contract research and to develop and test new clinical pathways in our clinics.

#### Affiliations

The Woolcock Institute operates as an independent company limited by guarantee and is governed by a distinguished board made up of outstanding researchers, leaders from industry and commerce, health system experts and senior university administrators.

We have an Affiliation Agreement with The University of Sydney. We are a member of Sydney Research - an alliance of medical research institutes; Sydney Local Health District and The University of Sydney and we also have Memorandums of Understanding with UTS and UNSW that all facilitate a high degree of integrated research collaboration.



### CHAIRMAN'S REPORT



Robert Estcourt Chairman

I would like to begin my remarks by reminding us all why the Institute exists.

We exist for our dedicated Research Teams who are tackling adult and childhood respiratory and sleep disorders. Amongst others these include asthma, COPD/ emphysema, lung cancer and tuberculosis. Our teams strive every day to understand and then develop better treatments for a range of dreadful diseases and conditions.

These cost lives, place significant burdens on healthcare systems and communities and impose heavily on quality of life, depriving many of a full and happy life.

It is the success of our work in these areas that we should be measured on.

In recent years one of the great achievements of all the stakeholders of the Woolcock is that it has become a happy, collaborative and supportive place to work. To be successful those who are associated with us need to get up every day and look forward to working here. The development and maintenance of that culture and environment is vital for our success.

I am pleased to report that 2014 and 2015 have been a very active and successful couple of years:

- We have won a number of NHMRC grants.
- We received other grants from corporate and government sectors, other organisations and individuals who support specific research work.
- Our success is well illustrated by the number of publications per staff member. It is invidious to quote numbers in this industry, but it does seem that whilst we come in the middle of the pack in terms of size, we are amongst the top few in terms of publications per staff member. In other words, the money is not wasted.
- A project I particularly liked was using crowdfunding to raise funds for a tuberculosis awareness project for children in Vietnam.
- Equally important is the translation of our work into the wider community. This has grown strongly in recent years. In 2014 we opened a paediatric sleep clinic and last year we conducted 369 paediatric sleep studies. Then in 2015 we opened a paediatric allergy clinic. The total number of sleep and clinic appointments in 2015 was more than 7,500. We are approaching

capacity and are already having to open for sleep studies over weekends. With recently commenced new initiatives I can see the same happening for clinical appointments. This increased level of translational activity provides a rich source of research ideas and subjects, as well as demonstrating that the Woolcock is not an Ivory Tower, but an integral part of the community - we are determined to see that our work has a beneficial impact on society.

 The growth in "operational" activities has gone hand in glove with growth in research activities and numbers. We now have over 200 researchers working out of this building. The combination of the research work and the translational activities means that in recent years this building has been transformed into one that never sleeps.

Our research work, our increased sleep studies and clinical work and the media reporting have all increased awareness of the Woolcock. We are finding increased interest in what we do to uncover the causes of diseases, finding better treatments and helping patients manage their health challenges. We have coupled this with a sustained campaign to build up our communications with past patients, friends and supporters. All this has considerably raised our profile. This is slowly but steadily building a supportive feed-back loop. Membership of the Institute is increasing and slowly but surely donations are rising.

The increased level of activity in the operational and fundraising space has improved our financial position significantly. It has gained us time to plan for the future, but has not as yet solved our longer term financing problems. While this challenge is greatest in terms of the support costs of research, with budgets at all levels of government and many corporates under stress, we do need to place the Institute on a footing where it can increasingly finance all its activities. In a nutshell we need the financial strength to ensure that the Institute is well placed to reach its potential, cement its position internationally as Australia's premier research institute for respiratory disease and sleep disorders and, in an increasingly challenging financial and operational environment, to ensure the optimal use of all the Institutes facilities, resources and expertise. So while the Institute is in a better research, operational and financial state than for a number of years and is moving in the right direction, it is still faced with major challenges.

There are a number of existing areas of work and new areas that I would like to mention in particular:

 The NSW state government's announcement that it will grant the Institute \$3 million towards supporting the development of a Lung Cancer Research Network and a Woolcock based Centre for Lung Cancer Research. This will be the first of its type in Australia and will fill

Woolcock Institute of Medical Research BIENNIAL REPORT 2014 - 2015



a great need if we are to make any major advances in counteracting this terrible illness.

- A private donation to set up a Centre of Excellence for research on emphysema, the Woolcock Emphysema Centre.
- Work is progressing in setting up a network for Optimal Patient Care for asthma.
- Approaches by private companies to work with us in research in associated areas.
- Support for our promotion and mentoring of the next generation of researchers.
- Other organisations working in the respiratory field have expressed an interest in moving into our facilities.

We are becoming a real centre, a true hub for sleep and respiratory expertise and work. These developments underline the role and standing of the Institute.

Whilst 2015 was a successful one, it has not been without some sadness. Professor Ruthven Blackburn, husband of Ann Woolcock, a moving force in our creation and great source of inspiration and support thereafter, died recently. All at the Woolcock will miss him.

In closing I would like to make particular mention of the multi-dimensional support the Woolcock receives from The University of Sydney, the Sydney Local Health District especially the Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, as well as the key financial contributions we receive from the state and federal governments. Without their support and help we would not exist. In particular I would like to thank The University of Sydney for taking such a positive attitude towards our housing needs over the next few years. I would also like to extend the warmest and sincerest thanks to those benefactors and donors who already provide support to the Institute. In the same breath, I am asking them to continue with their work. It would be impossible to mention all the other universities and research institutions, locally and internationally, that we have relationships with and who support us, but I would like to mention two here in Sydney, the University of Technology Sydney and the University of New South Wales. I would also like to make special mention of the Sydney Local Health District and Sydney Research, who support us in many ways.

There are a large number of people that I owe thanks to for the work and progress of the last year. To be frank it would be unfair to mention names with the exception of Professor Carol Armour. I shudder to think where we would be without her enthusiasm, drive, energy and leadership. While the program of change and renewal has absorbed a lot of time and energy, it has not prevented the Institute continuing to have considerable success in research in many fields. This is Carol's great achievement.

Turning to the Board I would like to express my sincere thanks to my colleagues on the Board. It has been another busy year and the exceptional voluntary service and dedication they bring to the Institute has been of great value. When they signed up for this Board I don't think many realised quite what a lot of work it would entail. They have my sincere thanks. All have shown exceptional dedication to the job required. We did manage to recruit one further member during the year in Matthew Peters, Professor of Respiratory Medicine, from Concord Hospital. Professor Arthur Conigrave from the University of Sydney will be joining us in 2016.

Lastly I extend my thanks to the team at the Woolcock. They are an outstanding group of dedicated researchers. My regard for them is enormous and it is a privilege to be associated with them. I, the Board and the community cannot thank them enough for their dedication and work.

### EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT



**Professor Carol Armour** Executive Director

The last two years have been very successful ones for the Woolcock and I would like to mention just a few exciting initiatives. Firstly, however I would like to mention our partners who make the research possible. Our affiliated university, The University of Sydney, our partner university, the University of Technology Sydney, the Sydney Local Health District and Sydney Research and our friends and these organisations who

support us in so many ways. Thank you.

In keeping with our leadership position as the premier respiratory and sleep institute in Australia, we have secured new funding to further advance two research fields, one of which is new to the Woolcock and the other strengthens our leadership position in the area.

The first is the Centre for Lung Cancer Research and the associated Lung Cancer Research Network. This will be set up with funds from the NSW government and in collaboration with lung cancer researchers across NSW. This initiative was started with Professors Paul Young and Judy Black talking to leading lung cancer researchers. Professor Young has now consolidated this into a network of 25 research groups and clinicians to achieve an active group committed to working together and sharing research results regarding lung cancer across the network. In so doing the network hopes to fast track discoveries in this disease which at the moment has a very poor prognosis. In tandem with the network there will be a Centre for Lung Cancer Research, located at the Woolcock, which will have state of the art laboratories, bio-banking facilities and data storage and access so that the network can work effectively out of our centre. This is a truly transformational program and we are really grateful for the opportunity we have been given to discover new ways to treat lung cancer.

The second new area of funding is focused on emphysema. This area of respiratory disease has been a core research area of the Woolcock for many years. However a charitable foundation, the Heine Foundation, made an offer of support and an additional offer came from a private donor, Mrs Janice Gibson, and so the Woolcock Emphysema Centre will start in 2016. We are delighted that Professor Alaina Ammit has agreed to join us as the Centre Director. This position was enabled by mutually beneficial discussions between the Woolcock and the University of Technology Sydney (UTS). Professor Ammit will have a continuing position at UTS and she will have access to

Woolcock Institute of Medical Research BIENNIAL REPORT 2014 - 2015 their facilities and students. I would particularly like to thank our donors and UTS who have made this exciting initiative possible. With these new funds we can have a major impact on this debilitating disease.

The Sleep and Epidemiology groups have had major success in securing a \$1.7M grant from the NHMRC from the Targeted Call on Windfarms and Health. This work will begin in 2016 and I look forward to telling you more about it in our next biennial report.

Professors Daniela Traini and Paul Young continue with their outstanding success in ARC linkage grants. These grants provide funding to solve industry problems through co-funding by government and industry to support outstanding researchers. Professor Traini and Young are developing new devices for use in multiple dimensions of health care.

Professor Guy Marks and Dr Greg Fox continue to be outstandingly successful in their fight against tuberculosis (TB) in Vietnam by researching new ways to detect, treat and scan in the community. As an adjunct to this program the Woolcock supported a production by Dr Paul Mason of an educational book for children affected by TB.

Professor Marks and many researchers at the Woolcock have continued with their work on the respiratory effects of air pollution, supported by an NHMRC Centre of Research Excellence (CRE).

Professor Peter Gibson and other researchers in the Woolcock have been successful in obtaining an NHMRC CRE for severe asthma. This follows on from the successful Severe Asthma Network that Professor Gibson already runs from the Woolcock.

The Physiology group continues to grow and mature under the leadership of Professor Greg King and Dr Cindy Thamrin. They have been successful in obtaining funding from the NHMRC and industry to support their leading edge research in emphysema and asthma. They have developed new techniques to assess lung damage early in disease, at a level that was not previously possible. With this new information we can intervene early in disease, before symptoms develop, and so have better outcomes for patients.

The Clinical Management group is working with GPs and pharmacists, to improve the care of asthma in the community by engaging these health care professionals and facilitating best practice care. Professor Helen Reddel is internationally renowned for her work in developing guidelines for this disease and it is her drive and enthusiasm which underlines education of health care professionals for best practice. Professor Sinthia Bosnic-



Anticevich, following on from engagement with our Ann Woolcock lecturer from the UK in 2015, is now developing the Optimum Patient Care project which will facilitate better care of people with respiratory problems in the community by supporting their health care provider.

Professor Brian Oliver is working towards understanding how viruses affect chronic respiratory disease. Professor Oliver has grown his team in cell biology following the departure of Professor Janette Burgess to the Netherlands. He is known for his collaboration and working across themes at the Woolcock. He is also shared with UTS and together we have built a great working relationship.

Finally the Sleep group - so many successes in many fields. They are working with industry and collaborators across the country in a \$14.5M Cooperative Research Centre (CRC) which will promote the prevention and control of sleep loss, impaired alertness and sleep disorders.

They are currently working on their third CRE, Neurosleep, in which the key aim is to improve cognition, workplace safety, and health outcomes in patients with sleep problems such as shift workers, patients with sleep disorders, neurodegenerative and/or mental health problems. They collaborate across the health district, across universities and across the country and are the international leaders in sleep research and its translation into the community. In August 2015 we celebrated the long career of Professor Euan Tovey on the occasion of his retirement. Professor Tovey is one of our longest serving Research Leaders and has made a contribution to the Woolcock both as a scientist and a colleague. In recognition of his significant contribution over many years he was inducted into the ranks of the Woolcock Distinguished Alumni. His inquisitive and innovative mind and the many novel mechanisms and devices he created here are legend and we are grateful for his passion and commitment to research and our Institute.

All of this work is made possible by the excellent research support we have in the Woolcock, the Finance and HR and IT teams all work with us to achieve these outcomes and the Clinic and Commercial staff support our engagement with the community. I am supported by an executive management committee who work hard on behalf of the rest of the Woolcock. They are all invaluable to our ongoing success. My management team of Joanne Elliot (operations), Kerstin Baas (commercial) and Sinthia Bosnic-Anticevich (development and fundraising) as well as our Deputy Director (Paul Young) have given me enormous support and the Woolcock success depends on them. Thank you to you all for working as a team and making us the success we are today.



# OUR RESEARCH



Researchers at the Woolcock are part of a multidisciplinary team dedicated to understanding and treating respiratory and sleep disorders. With over 200 research and clinical professionals we are a world leader in the area of research, clinical diagnosis and treatment.

# AIRWAY PHYSIOLOGY AND IMAGING



### Led by Associate Professor Greg King and Dr Cindy Thamrin.

The Airway Physiology and Imaging Group investigates what goes wrong with the function of the airways and lungs in diseases such as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) including emphysema, cystic fibrosis and in bone marrow transplant patients and smokers. The knowledge gained from these studies informs doctors of better ways to understand, assess and treat patients. We provide a bridge for translating research from the "bench to bedside", in other words, making research benefit patients.

The Group is recognised for its expertise in clinical respiratory physiology, i.e. the science of determining how the lung goes wrong and how this causes patient symptoms. We are international leaders in complex lung function methods such as multiple breath nitrogen washout and forced oscillation technique. We also combine these measurements of function with 3-dimensional lung imaging methods: high resolution Computed Tomography (HRCT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), single photon emission computed tomography (PET) and positron emission computed tomography (PET). We are a diverse team comprising clinicians, basic scientists and engineers.

#### Highlights in 2014 - 2015

The Group were very sad to bid farewell to Dr Cheryl Salome as she embraced her retirement – Cheryl is the Woolcock Institute's longest serving member and has been a pillar of the Institute. She has deservedly been inducted into the Asthma Foundation Hall of Fame and made a Distinguished Alumni of the Woolcock Institute for her contributions to our understanding of airway hyperresponsiveness in asthma.

Dr Kate Hardaker was conferred her PhD in 2015, with her thesis on the physiological determinants of airway hyper-responsiveness in elderly asthma. Dr Hardaker is now pursuing postdoctoral work at the Children's Hospital in Westmead, working with Dr Paul Robinson who is a Woolcock Affiliate and an alumnus.

In 2014 Dr Stephen Milne and Dr Katrina Tonga joined the Group as new clinician PhD Fellows. Dr Milne will examine how current COPD medications affect the airways in order to improve symptoms, using PET, an exciting new ventilation imaging method. Dr Tonga will look at cells that cause airway inflammation in older people with asthma, to explain why they have more problems than younger people.

Several new research staff members took up positions with the Group during this time. Dr Chinh Nguyen joined the Group as a postdoctoral fellow with expertise in complex analytics of respiratory and sleep data; Ms Joanna Watts, who has a Masters in Medical Physics, was appointed as a Research Assistant; Dr Kanika Jetmalani completed her PhD studies and has embarked on her postdoctoral research which includes following up the smokers with normal lung function in her PhD study, to see if those in whom abnormal small airway function were detected will progress towards COPD; Dr Louise Harkness and Dr Francesca Tan also joined the Group as postdoctoral researchers after finishing their PhD studies with the Woolcock Institute's Cell Biology Group. Members to leave the Group were Dr Jessica Dame Carroll, a postdoctoral fellow and long-term Woolcock Institute member and Research Assistant, Ms Amy Bertolin.

The highlight of 2015 was the opportunity to convene the Flow Volume Underworld meeting here at the Woolcock Institute. This is a long running, elite international meeting attended by the who's who of respiratory science, that began close to 50 years ago at the Mayo Clinic in Baltimore, USA.

The Group has also been active in running physiology education days for clinicians, health professionals and scientists and they have presented at the American Thoracic Society, European Respiratory Society and Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand conferences.

Our current collaborations include the University of Western Australia; Monash University; Vrije University, Brussels, Belgium; Dalhousie University, Canada; Politecnico di Milano, Italy; West China Hospital, Chengdu, Sichuan Province, China. In Sydney, we collaborate with the Royal North Shore Hospital, Concord Hospital, Westmead Children's Hospital, and Macquarie University Hospital. We also work in close collaboration with our colleagues in the Cell Biology, Sleep and Respiratory Technology Groups within the Woolcock Institute and share several joint research projects.



#### Awards

- Associate Professor Greg King's research was recognised by the Asia Pacific Society of Respirology via the Ann Woolcock Research Medal in 2014.
- Dr Cindy Thamrin was awarded a R.D. Wright Biomedical NHMRC Career Development Fellowship in 2015 which will fund her for the next four years.

#### **Research Grants**

- Associate Professor Greg King: University of Sydney Bridging Grant. The Role of Neutrophils in Small Airways Disease in Asthma – awarded 2015 (\$30,000). Centre of Research Excellence in Severe asthma (NHMRC) - awarded 2015-2018 (\$2,498,171) CSI-Sydney: New technologies to treat chronic sinus infection (NHMRC Development Grant) - awarded 2014-2015 (\$401,708). Airway extracellular matrix and smooth muscle in
  - *COPD* (NHMRC Project Grant) awarded 2014-2016 (\$791,677).
- Dr Cindy Thamrin and Associate Professor Greg King: Prediction of clinical outcomes in COPD from home monitoring of lung function variability (NHMRC Project Grant) - awarded 2014-2016 (\$496,226).
- Dr Paul Robinson: Asthma Foundation Grant. *To investigate FOT Home monitoring utility in paediatric asthma* - awarded 2015-2016 (\$160,000).

### Our early career researchers were successful in securing several seed grants:

- Woolcock Early Career Seed Funding Grants to Drs Jessica Dame Carroll and Claude Farah (\$15K each).
- Sydney Medical School Early Career Research Grant to Dr Claude Farah (\$20K).
- Sydney Medical School Foundation Grant to Dr Paul Robinson (\$33K).

- Centre of Excellence for Severe Asthma Seed Grants to Drs Claude Farah and Cindy Thamrin (\$20K each).
- Menarini COPD Research Top-Up Grant to Dr Kanika Jetmalani (\$20K).
- Marie Bashir Institute Seed Funding to Dr Paul Robinson (\$15K).

#### **Industry Research Grants**

We are grateful for the support provided by Industry, to facilitate several investigator initiated projects:

- Boehringer Ingelheim supports COPD research within the group.
- Menarini is funding a study into sleep disturbances in COPD.
- GlaxoSmithKline is funding a study into potential early intervention for progression of COPD.

#### **Future Developments**

In the next few years, the Group will maintain its integral research into the mechanisms behind asthma, while increasing its interest in COPD including emphysema research, particularly with respect to early disease detection, prevention, home monitoring and management, and a better understanding of why some COPD patients experience multiple flare-ups and hospitalisations.



L to R Back: Chinh Nguyen, Joanna Watts, Katrina Tonga, Louise Harkness, Sabine Zimmermann L to R Front: Stephen Milne, Claude Farah, Cindy Thamrin, Greg King

Woolcock Institute of Medical Research BIENNIAL REPORT 2014 - 2015



# ALLERGEN AND UPPER AIRWAYS

### Led by Associate Professor Janet Rimmer and Associate Professor Euan Tovey.

The Allergen Group investigates the role of allergens and viruses in asthma and rhinitis (hay fever). Both of these are major triggers for making symptoms worse. Their work focuses on developing methods for sampling and identifying different allergens and viruses, measuring allergen exposures and viral infections in people to determine their role in causing symptoms of asthma and rhinitis. This provides the basis of advice for people about how to better manage their symptoms and ultimately is directed at finding better ways to prevent the disease.

They collaborate with other allergy researchers in Australia and internationally, as well as with virologists, vets at Sydney Zoo (in a study of tuberculosis in elephants), microbiologists, product designers and epidemiologists to achieve their research aims. Both serve on state and national committees and medical advisory boards that address issues about the respiratory diseases.

#### Highlights in 2014 - 2015

The Group have conducted novel studies of the pattern of daily personal exposure to airborne mite allergen. Their findings challenge the 40-year paradigm that the bed is the main site of this exposure. They found that sleeping in bed only contributes a small fraction, typically around only 5-20% of total daily exposure. Most of the exposure (average 60%) occurred in the house during the morning, day and evening while people were active and short but intense exposure sometimes occurred while using public transport and even in offices. They suspect that most airborne mite allergen is sourced from personal clothing and furnishing and the particles carrying allergens are aerosolised by movement and activity.

They have completed and published the main findings of their long term community study on the role of virus infections in children's asthma. They found that 67 children had respiratory viral infections detectable, on average, for about a third of the 10 week period. Overall, having such infections significantly increased their reported day-today asthma symptoms, but children could also test virus positive and not have cold or asthma symptoms. Some children also had almost continuous infections, while others had few or none; the reasons for this continue to be explored along with exploring what other factors provoke these symptoms, and why only a few of the virus infections lead to severe exacerbations whereas the others result only in mild symptoms.

One small study of interest was a study of potential aerosol transmission of tuberculosis among elephants, which involved developing methods to collect exhaled breath from elephants and examining its microbial content.

#### **Research Grants**

Associate Professor Euan Tovey: NHMRC Research Fellowship extension – awarded 2015 (\$66,451). Lucy Faulkner Fellowship, to study at Columbia University in New York – awarded 2015 (\$8000).



# CLINICAL MANAGEMENT

### Led by our Executive Director, Professor Carol Armour and Associate Professor Helen Reddel.

The Clinical Management Group investigates the care of people with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in the community, clinic and hospital environment. They are working towards achieving better health and quality of life for those people who suffer with respiratory diseases. Their research is investigating the best possible therapy and care, involving the patient in decision making about their health and in day-to-day management of their respiratory condition.

They involve general practitioners, pharmacists, practice nurses, research psychologists, asthma educators, physiotherapists, speech pathologists and specialist respiratory physicians in helping them achieve their research aims. Many of them serve on national and international committees which are addressing issues in respiratory diseases for the future.

#### **Major Initiatives**

During 2015 a major initiative in emphysema research was negotiated and established. In collaboration with Professor Armour and other research leaders at the Woolcock Institute who work in the area of emphysema/COPD, several major new research programs were established and a Centre for Excellence formed. This is now funded for 3 years with the help of significant benefactor funding (\$1.4m) from the Heine Foundation and Mrs Gibson.

#### Highlights in 2014-2015

Associate Professor Helen Reddel, as Chair of the Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) Science Committee, initiated and led a major revision of the Global Strategy for Asthma Management and Prevention, promoting patient-centred and individualised treatment, and challenging several long-held approaches to asthma treatment which lacked evidence. The revised GINA strategy report, which is used as the basis for many countries' asthma guidelines, was published in 2014 and updated in 2015, and has been distributed to over 100,000 health professionals worldwide since 2014. Associate Professor Reddel is also a member of the Guidelines Committee for National Asthma Council, which published new online Australian asthma guidelines in 2014; the guidelines had over 80,000 unique visitors in the nine months to December 2015. She was also a member of the Respiratory Expert Group for Therapeutic Guidelines and Clinical Adviser for the NPS MedicineWise asthma implementation program that reached over 11,000 health professionals in 2014-15 with key messages from the new Australian guidelines.

The Respiratory Effectiveness Group is an investigatorled, not-for-profit research initiative that has been set up in recognition of the potential value of real-life research and the need to harness real-life evidence to inform meaningful practice guidelines, drug licensing and prescribing decisions. As one of six members of the Executive Committee, Associate Professor Sinthia Bosnic-Anticevich provides leadership and sets research standards. The group evaluates mechanisms of integrating real-life research appropriately into clinical practice guidelines and communicates best practice standards into real-life research. They also engage licensing authorities to ensure real-life research is appropriately incorporated into drug licensing and post-marketing appraisal processes and into national and international health strategies.

The Allergic Rhinitis and its Impact on Asthma (ARIA) initiative aims to educate and implement evidence-based management of allergic rhinitis in conjunction with asthma worldwide. This is a collaborative network, which is supported through initiatives of the European Union. In her capacity as a member of this group, Associate Professor Bosnic-Anticevich contributes a strategic clinical pharmacy perspective. The latest guidelines are currently in press in *Allergy* (Impact Factor 6.028).

Pharmacy ARIA is the leading global initiative for the management of allergic rhinitis in pharmacy. This is a subgroup of ARIA, which oversees the development of guidelines for pharmacy in the management of allergic rhinitis. Associate Professor Bosnic-Anticevich's role as Chair of this group is to lead the writing of the Pharmacy ARIA guidelines and to work with international experts in the field to develop guidelines for pharmacy that can integrate the practice of pharmacy across the health disciplines. The latest Pharmacy ARIA guidelines are currently under review.



Woolcock Institute of Medical Research BIENNIAL REPORT 2014 - 2015



Dr Michael Guo is the network coordinator for the Australasian Severe Asthma Network and is involved in research studies which are managed by the Network. He was the project manager for the Australian Xolair Registry (AXR) which was funded by Novartis Australia (2011-2015). The Registry was a national multicentre, non-interventional, observational web-based database which evaluated the real-world use of omalizumab for treatment-resistant severe allergic asthma in Australia. In 2013, the Network also successfully launched the study of "Severe Asthma Web-based Database" (SAWD), a partnership project with TSANZ which was funded by several pharmaceutical companies (GSK, BI, AstraZeneca, Novartis and Roche). This was a multicentre, web-based database study which involved with three countries: Australia (16 sites), New Zealand (3 sites) and China (3 sites).

Dr Claudia Dobler was conferred her PhD from the University of Sydney in 2014. She was awarded an NHMRC TRIP fellowship 2015-16 to implement a decision aid for preventive tuberculosis treatment into clinical practice. In early 2015, Claudia Dobler was elected as medical co-chair of the respiratory network at the NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation (ACI). The ACI works with clinicians, consumers and managers to design and promote better healthcare.

The Group has seen a number of higher degree students graduate in 2014 and 2015. In 2014 Lynn Cheung was conferred her PhD with her thesis on the role of patients in inter professional care and Lia Jahedi and Stephen Hughes were awarded MPhils on the topics of patient preference for inhaler devices and impact on inhaler technique and pharmacy asthma services and sustainability respectively.

They have also participated in the Pharmacology Elective Research program at The University of Sydney which has seen five undergraduate students successfully complete research projects:

- Grace Gillett completed a project on health networks and adolescents with asthma;
- Nay Htoo Aung completed a project on the influence of the media and social networks on health-seeking behavior of patients with asthma;
- Rachel Tan completed a project on assessing the intuitive nature of device use;
- Shizuka Yamauchi completed a project on the improper use of ICS as a key factor leading to non-adherence to asthma medication; and
- Stephanie Yvonne Yee completed a project on determining educational needs of new devices.

In 2015 two PhD students graduated. Sharon Davis was awarded her PhD for her thesis on understanding the inhaler device needs of people with intellectual disability and M Ashik Ullah was conferred a PhD for his thesis on allergen induced asthma.

Rachel Tan was successful in being awarded with a Bachelor of Science (Honours) for her project *Allergic rhinitis management in practice: understanding what patients do and why.* 

#### Major Conference Presentations/ Invited Presentations

Associate Professor Helen Reddel gave major international plenary presentations in 2014 on the new GINA report included a European Respiratory Society symposium, the Hong Kong Allergy Conference, and the Boehringer Ingelheim Respiratory Expert Forum in Frankfurt.

In 2015 she presented to the International Meeting on Asthma and COPD and concomitant disorders (Italy), the Global Respiratory Leadership Forum (Cambridge), the American Thoracic Society conference (Denver), and the International Union against TB and Lung Diseases (Sydney). She was invited to give several national plenary presentations on the new Australian asthma guidelines to the Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand, Asthma Foundation Australia, AstraZeneca, the Agency for Clinical Innovation and the Pharmaceutical Society of Australia. Other presentations in 2015 included the Australian Asthma Conference, Australian Doctor Live, the launch of the NHMRC Centre for Research Excellence in Severe Asthma, a Masterclass sponsored by GlaxoSmithKline, and a severe asthma expert forum in Melbourne.

In 2014, Dr Michael Guo was invited to TSANZ to present the Australian Xolair Registry study. The Australasian Severe Asthma Network received funding from the Commonwealth government, the Australia-China Science and Research Fund (ACSRF) which allowed Dr Guo and others to travel to China between 2013 and 2014. Dr Guo was awarded a TSANZ Travel Grant to attend the TSANZ 2014 conference.

In 2015, Dr Claudia Dobler was invited to present her research at the Mayo Clinic, Rochester, USA. She was also an invited speaker at the Asia-Pacific conference of the Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease and at the annual symposium of the NHMRC CRE in tuberculosis control.

In 2014 Associate Professor Sinthia Bosnic-Anticevich was invited to give a lecture at the Royal College of Surgeons, Beaumont Hospital and Trinity College, Ireland on *Inhaler technique Mastery and Maintenance: uncovering the X-factor*. She was also invited to be a workshop presenter at the International Society of Aerosols in Medicines scientific conference *Bioequivalence of Inhaled Formulation and Respiratory Pediatrics* in Sydney in a workshop called *Clinicians Aspects to inhaler use in Children*. In 2015 Associate Professor Bosnic-Anticevich gave a number of symposium presentations including *The Australian Story – inhaler devices* at the Respiratory Effectiveness Group Scientific Meeting Singapore; *Meeting the needs of our patients – optimising inhaler use* at the European Association of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, Barcelona, Spain; *Generic Substitution of inhalers* at the European Respiratory Forum, Valencia Spain; *Adherence and Inhaler Technique* at the New Zealand Respiratory Conference, invited by Asthma NZ, Wellington, New Zealand; and two presentations at *Breathing Together: 1st Respiratory Forum*, Seoul, Korea, one called *Sharing best practice tools for improving clinical care* and the other *Inhaler Handling: Matching the Device to the Patient.* 

Associate Professor Bosnic-Anticevich also participated in a live debate against Professor Alberto Papi at the European Respiratory Forum, Valencia Spain on *The benefits of automatic substitution*.



#### **Prizes and Awards**

Dr Juliet Foster, Associate Professor Reddel and coinvestigators Professor Tim Usherwood, Professor Susan Sawyer and Dr Lorraine Smith were awarded the National Prescribing Service MedicineWise National Award for Excellence in e-Health Resources, for their NHMRC-funded project about improving adherence



with asthma medications in primary care, the results of which were published in 2014.

Dr Dobler was awarded the prize for the best conference presentation in the evidence based medicine category for her study *Benefit of Treatment of Latent Tuberculosis Infection in Individual Patients: A Decision Aid* at the Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand (TSANZ) meeting 2014 in Adelaide.

#### International Collaborations

In 2015, Associate Professor Reddel was invited to cochair a large (n=14,600) multinational 3-year observational study, the first to investigate underlying mechanisms and treatment targets across the spectrum of airways disease, including both asthma and COPD. The study is funded by AstraZeneca.

Associate Professor Reddel is a member of the Steering Committee for the multinational SYGMA studies (2014-18), two regulatory studies of as-needed treatment in mild asthma, funded by AstraZeneca. This study was first proposed by Helen in 2008. She is also collaborating with investigators in Canada, Sweden, Denmark and China on a retrospective analysis of the benefit of low dose inhaled corticosteroids in mild asthma; with investigators in the Netherlands on a prediction model for exacerbations in asthma, and a study about diagnosis of COPD; and with investigators in Jordan on pharmacist-led inhaler technique studies. She is chairing the joint data monitoring committee for the FDA-mandated studies of LABA safety in asthma.

Since 2012, Dr Michael Guo and Professor Peter Gibson have been involved in training for clinicians and research staff, and organising a research exchange program for young Chinese researchers to bring them to Australia for training including PhDs. They have also been presenting at Chinese conferences. Chinese organisations involved in this program include a number of hospitals and universities. In late 2013 and 2014 Dr Guo commenced the Severe Asthma Web-based Database (SAWD) in three hospitals in China. In 2014-2015 this study commenced in three hospitals in NZ.



Dr Dobler has established research collaboration with the Mongolian National Tuberculosis Program. This collaboration on late-stage translational research projects was recognised by the Australian government who approved an Australian Volunteers for International Development (AVID) position in Mongolia in 2015 based on this initiative.

Associate Professor Bosnic-Anticevich is an internationally recognised leader in clinical pharmacy research in the field of respiratory medicine; in particular the quality use of respiratory medicines. She has led national and international research groups focusing on the use of respiratory medicines in different patient populations. At any one time she works with over 10 international experts, across Asia, Europe and America in related health and research fields as evidenced in her grant list.

#### **Research Grants**

- Associate Professor Helen Reddel: Centre of Research Excellence in Severe asthma (NHMRC) - awarded 2015-2018 (\$2,498,171). Novel START, a multinational study of as-needed budesonide/formoterol in mild asthma (AstraZeneca) awarded 2015-2018 (NZD\$8,656,359). RCT of ICS/LABA reliever therapy regimen in mild asthma (New Zealand Health Research Council Program Grant) - awarded 2015-2019 (NZD\$4,977,780).
- Professor Carol Armour: An integrated general practice and pharmacy-based intervention to promote the prescription and use of appropriate preventive medications among individuals at high cardiovascular risk (NHMRC) – awarded 2015-2019 (\$2,296,358).
- Professor Carol Armour and Associate Professor Sinthia Bosnic-Anticevich: Pharmacy asthma model for sustainable delivery of asthma services (AstraZeneca) – awarded 2015-2016 (\$135,000).
- Associate Professor Sinthia Bosnic-Anticevich: Exploring Global Perspectives on the Management of Pediatric Asthma in the Community Pharmacy Setting (Fund for Asthma and Allergy Research, Center for Managing Chronic Disease, University of Michigan USA) – awarded 2015 (\$12,950). Health Care Professional: Easy Low Instruction over time. Research in Real Life - awarded 2014-2015 (\$250,000).
- Dr Claudia Dobler: Improving evidence-based treatment of latent tuberculosis infection in public-hospital based chest clinics. NHMRC TRIP (translating research into

practice fellowship) - awarded 2015-2016 (\$172,911). A decision aid for medical practitioners who treat latent tuberculosis infection. Seed funding by NHMRC CRE in Tuberculosis Control - awarded 2014 (\$20,000).

#### **Industry Research Grants**

The Clinical Management group have a number of Industry research grants with companies including AstraZeneca, Novartis Australia, TEVA Pharmaceuticals, ZENTIVA, MEDA Pharmaceuticals totalling almost \$5 million.

#### **Future Developments**

Several of the projects described above, that have been initiated from the Woolcock Institute of Medical Research, are likely to lead to important changes in international and national asthma guidelines, by making health professionals aware of the substantial burden on patients of having severe refractory asthma, by providing novel evidence for personalised treatment in mild asthma, and by identifying potential treatment targets across the spectrum of chronic airways disease.

The group aims to take on an increasing leadership role in the area of knowledge translation for all respiratory diseases, bridging the gap between research evidence and clinical practice. We have a vision for capacity building in this area, which includes knowledge synthesis (systematic reviews and meta-analyses), clinical practice guidelines and decision aids.



L to R: Michael Guo, Carol Armour, Christine Jenkins, Kate LeMay, Helen Reddel, Juliet Foster

### RESPIRATORY AND ENVIRONMENTAL EPIDEMIOLOGY

#### Led by Professor Guy Marks and Dr Brett Toelle.

The Respiratory and Environmental Epidemiology Group conducts research to investigate the prevalence and risk factors of respiratory disease in different population groups. Current projects include studies on the impact of air quality on respiratory health, primary prevention of asthma, COPD prevalence and new tuberculosis treatments.

This group uses epidemiological methods to describe the amount of disease and the risk factors for disease within populations. There are three main areas of activity;

Respiratory and Environmental Epidemiology (R&EE)

The Respiratory and Environmental Epidemiology Research Group conducts research to investigate the amount, risk factors and burden of respiratory disease. Their program covers a number of areas including impact of air quality on respiratory health, primary prevention of asthma and a multicentre project to quantify COPD in the Australian community. They are also working in the areas of tuberculosis treatment and case finding.

• Centre for Air quality & health Research and evaluation (CAR)

CAR is a Centre of Research Excellence funded by the National Health and Medical Research Council. CAR enables research on the impact of air pollution on human health and translates that research into contributions to policy that aims to mitigate that impact. CAR provides an opportunity to build the capacity for early career researchers by offering post-doctoral fellowships, travel grants, PhD top-ups, seed funding grants and research specific training. CAR engages its partner organisations and the public through organising workshops, symposiums and public lectures.

### • Australian Centre for Airways disease Monitoring (ACAM)

ACAM was established at the Woolcock Institute in 2002 as a collaborating unit with the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. It aims to assist in reducing the burden of chronic airways disease, including asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), in Australia by developing, collating and interpreting data relevant to prevention, management and health policy for chronic airways disease.

#### Highlights in 2014 - 2015

#### **PhD Candidates**

- Completed: Dr Claudia Dobler and Dr Bronwyn Brew
- Continuing: Dr Anthony Byrne, Dr Jennifer Ho, Frances Garden, Wafaa Nabil Ezz
- New: Elyse Guevara-Rattray

### 2015 Summer Scholarship Student (supervised by Dr Mason)

Amanda Wang

#### Major Conference Presentations/ Invited Presentations

In 2014 Professor Guy Marks was invited to give the keynote address at the CSIRO national symposium on air pollution, Melbourne on the topic "Health effects of air pollution" and at the Australasian College of Toxicology and Risk Assessment (ACTRA) Annual Conference, Sydney, where his topic was "The Epidemiology of Air Pollution - Methodological considerations -filling the gaps in knowledge."

He also gave an invited symposium presentation called "Diagnosing COPD in resource-limited settings" at the International Union Against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease, World Congress on Lung Health in Barcelona, Spain; two



presentations at NSW Health Tuberculosis Conference, one on the challenges, opportunities and priorities for TB control from a medical perspective and the other on TB research in Vietnam and a talk on asthma at the National Press Foundation meeting held in association with World Congress on Lung Health, Barcelona, Spain.

In 2015 Professor Marks was the keynote speaker at Inhalation Asia, Shenyang, China and spoke on the control of tuberculosis in Asia; he gave invited symposium talks at the Vietnam Respiratory Society meeting, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam on preventing multi-drug resistant tuberculosis



and on tuberculosis detection by actively screening in community in Ca Mau, Viet Nam. He was also invited to give a presentation at the Burnett Symposium on infectious diseases in Melbourne on TB control: case-finding and cure.



In 2015 Dr Brett Toelle presented a paper called *Living with Interstitial Lung Disease* – *How to maximise my quality of life* at the Lung Foundation of Australia's 2nd Biennial Australian Rare Lung Disease Short Course.



In 2015 Dr Greg Fox was an invited speaker at the Asia-Pacific Regional conference of the International Union Against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease in Sydney and spoke about tuberculosis case finding strategies.

Dr Paul Mason spoke at the Center for Bioethics and Medical Humanities, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia on the idiom of normalcy; presented a Human Rights/Law and TB workshop with Professor Angus Dawson, and Dr Jed Horner at the Union Asia Pacific Region TB Conference in Sydney; delivered a plenary talk called "Selectively, but not exclusively: understanding structural diversity and functional plasticity in complex systems" at the Woolcock Research Symposium, Woolcock Institute of Medical Research; and presented at a symposium on Pathways to Indefinite Lifespans at the Steghi Grammaton kai Technon (House of Arts and Literature), Larnaca, Cyprus on the topic "Another stage of development: the vital role of degeneracy in healthy ageing."

In 2014 Dr Christine Cowie spoke at the 45 and Up Study Collaborators' Meeting in Sydney on walkability and air pollution in Sydney and in 2015 she presented *Rethinking urban and transport planning policies to improve air quality and health* at the Clean Air Society of Australia and New Zealand (CASANZ). 22nd International Clean Air Society Conference in Melbourne and *Current knowledge of indoor air pollution in Australian homes* at the Thoracic Society of Australia and NZ (TSANZ) Annual Scientific Conference at the Gold Coast in Queensland.



#### **Awards and Prizes**

Professor Guy Marks was awarded the Highest Ranked NHMRC Fellowship Applicant for the 2014 round.



- Professor Guy Marks was awarded South Western Sydney Clinical School (UNSW), Distinguished Research Award 2014.
- Professor Guy Marks was awarded Lady Mary Fairfax Distinguished Research Award, Ingham Institute 2014.
- Dr Greg Fox: Otsuka / Union Young Innovator in TB Research Award International Union of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease (December 2015, Cape Town).
- Dr Christine Cowie was awarded a Woolcock Institute of Medical Research Training Grant to attend the Advanced Epidemiology Course held by the University of Otago, Auckland NZ. (2015) (\$2,500).
- Dr Christine Cowie was awarded a Centre for Air Quality & Health Research & Evaluation (CAR) Training Award for overseas travel to visit research intensive air pollution epidemiology groups at Imperial College, London and the Institute for Risk Assessment Sciences (IRAS) Utrecht University, The Netherlands (2015) (\$7,500).
- Dr Christine Cowie was awarded a Centre for Air Quality & Health Research & Evaluation Travel Award to present at the Clean Air Society of Australia & NZ Conference, Melbourne, Australia. (Sept 2015) (\$2,500).

#### **Research Grants**

Professor Guy Marks: Interventions for improving lung health. NHMRC Senior Principal Research Fellowship - awarded 2014-2018 (\$897,000).

Centre of Research Excellence in Severe Asthma (NHMRC) - awarded 2015-2018 (\$2,498,171). University of NSW GOLDSTAR. A BOLD new model for chronic non-specific respiratory disease to enable better research, prevention, treatment and outcomes awarded 2015 (\$40,000).

 Professor Guy Marks and Dr Greg Fox:
 Prevention of multi-drug resistant tuberculosis in a high prevalence setting: 'Connecting the DOTS' in Vietnam (NHMRC Project Grant) – awarded 2015-2019 (\$3,200,000). Tackling the two greatest obstacles to Tuberculosis elimination: Treatment of latent infection and drug resistant disease. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR). 2014 Foundation Scheme Live Pilot competition - awarded 2015-2017 (CAD\$238,648).

#### **Industry Research Grants**

- Dr Brett Toelle (shared with Professor Paul Young from Respiratory Technology Group): Google Impact Challenge to develop sensors and a mobile app to access and report real-time air quality data - awarded 2015-2016 (\$250,000).
- Professor Guy Marks and Dr Christine Cowie: Evaluation of the health impacts of different sources, types and levels of particulate matter in ambient air in NSW. A review of scientific evidence. NSW Environment Protection Authority (EPA) and NSW Ministry of Health, 2014-15 – awarded 2014 (\$140,000).
- Professor Guy Marks and Dr Christine Cowie: *Current knowledge of indoor air quality in NSW*. NSW Ministry of Health – awarded 2014 (\$40,000).

#### **Future Developments**

At the end of 2015 the Group was awarded \$1.9M by the NHMRC for a special research project on the multidimensional assessment of the health impacts of infrasound. This award was in response to a targeted call for research into wind farms and human health. This project will be jointly run with the Sleep Group and the two groups will work closely together with a number of other multidisciplinary collaborative partners to conduct well designed rigorous research to address this important contemporary public health issue. This research will continue over the next five years and will include both a short term laboratory based study here at our Glebe location and a longer term epidemiological study conducted within rural communities.

In addition to new projects they will continue to work on existing studies that include the Childhood Asthma Prevention Study (CAPS) and Burden of Lung Disease (BOLD). Both of these long term studies continue to provide opportunities for higher degree research students, research publications and conference presentations addressing important questions about the natural history of asthma and COPD through different stages of life.

They will maintain their research program in the areas of respiratory and environmental epidemiology, provide opportunities for research translation and develop the next generation of epidemiology researchers.



L to R Back: Brett Toelle, Paul Mason, Greg Fox, Christine Cowie L to R Front: Tessa Bird, Rose Ampon, Guy Marks, Elyse Guevara-Rattray, Leanne Poulos

# WOOLCOCK INSTITUTE OF MEDICAL RESEARCH IN VIETNAM



#### Led by Professor Guy Mark and Dr Greg Fox.

Several research projects aimed at the identification and management of tuberculosis are underway at multiple sites across Vietnam. Woolcock Institute offices have been established in Hanoi, Ho Chi Min City and Ca Mau and the implementation of projects across 11 Provinces is overseen by Country Director Dr Nguyen Thu Anh. The Woolcock currently employ 40 local researchers and, as activity within the projects increases, the number of employees will grow to 45.

This work is extremely important because it addresses a very real public health problem and develops research capacity that will provide lasting benefit to public health and respiratory medicine in Vietnam. This research activity has been made possible through several NHMRC project grants that have been awarded to our researchers over time. The first of these was in 2010 when they received funding for two clinical trials in Vietnam and the most recent was *Prevention of multi-drug resistant tuberculosis in a high prevalence setting: 'Connecting the DOTS' in Vietnam* which was awarded in 2015.



### RESPIRATORY CELLULAR AND MOLECULAR BIOLOGY

### Led by Associate Professor Brian Oliver and Associate Professor Janette Burgess (until July 2015).

The Group aims to uncover the molecular and cellular mechanisms underlying chronic respiratory diseases such as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), lymphangioleiomyomatosis (LAM) and pulmonary fibrosis.

They have four main areas of expertise:

- Molecular pathophysiology (Brian Oliver)
- Fibrosis (Dr Pawan Sharma)
- Control of angiogenesis in COPD (Qi Ge)
- Understanding the influence of diet on airway function (Dikaia Xenaki)

These themes are investigated using genetic and molecular approaches on patient tissue samples and novel in-vitro models of the airways. The aims are to discover what drives disease processes and to discover new treatments and/or improve existing ones.

Until July 2015 Associate Professor Janette Burgess led a matrix biology team at the Woolcock Institute. She left to take up the Rosalind Franklin Fellowship at the University of Groningen in the Netherlands.

#### Highlights in 2014 - 2015

In 2014-2015, the Group had six Honours students complete their degrees (all but one got first class), three PhD completions, and four students starting their PhDs. Members of the team have given plenaries and invited talks at national and internal meetings (e.g. The American Thoracic Society Meeting).

#### **International Collaborations**

The Group continues to collaborate with researchers in Europe, and North America.

#### **Significant Research Grants**

- Associate Professor Brian Oliver: Mechanisms of impaired bronchodilator response associated with fatty acid intake in obese asthma (NHMRC Project Grant) – awarded 2015-2018 (\$668,469). Elucidation of the Aetiology of Airway Remodelling in COPD (NHMRC Project Grant) – awarded 2015-2018 (\$630,000). New Therapies to Treat Airway Scaring (NHMRC Career Development Fellowship) – awarded 2014
- Dr Pawan Sharma:
   Autophagy as a novel therapeutic target for fibriotic airway remodelling in asthma (UTS Chancellor's Postdoctoral Fellowship) – awarded 2015 (\$500,000).

#### **Future Developments**

(\$464,000).

Basic science research can be viewed as the building blocks of discovery in respiratory medicine. In each of their research areas they hope to make significant discoveries in the future. For example they have begun new research projects looking at the environmental causes of COPD such as biomass smoke and other environmental pollutants, and understanding the impact of viral infections in the critically ill in intensive care units. In-order to keep progressing the research they have plans to expand their group size with the recruitment of two new postdoctoral scientist and four PhD students over the next year.



Woolcock Institute of Medical Research BIENNIAL REPORT 2014 - 2015



# RESPIRATORY TECHNOLOGY

### Led by Professor Paul Young and Professor Daniela Traini.

The Respiratory Technology Group was established in 2012 to bridge the gap between fundamental respiratory science (molecular pharmacology and cell biology) and clinical research (physiology, epidemiology and clinical management). The Group is a leader in the areas of drug formulation, device development, testing and delivery.



RespiTech.org

#### **Awards and Appointments**

Members of the group have received a number of awards and appointments during 2014-15, including:

- Paul Young was promoted to Professor of Respiratory Technology (Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney)
- Daniela Traini was promoted to Professor of Respiratory Science (Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney)
- Professor Young was appointed as Chair of the Australian Chapter of the Controlled Release Society
- Professor Traini was appointed to the board of the International Society of Aerosols in Medicine
- Professor Young and Professor Traini were both appointed as Honorary Adjunct Professors at UTS
- Dr Mehra Haghi was awarded a Humboldt Fellowship
- Dr Judy Loo, Dr Wing-Hin Lee and Dr Hui Xin Ong (YY) were awarded a Marie Bashir Institute For Infectious Diseases And Biosecurity (MBI) seed project fund
- Ms Mariam Mamlouk was awarded an Australian Postgraduate Award (APA) scholarship
- Mr Tim Corish was awarded the Sydney Mechanical Engineering Association (USMEA) First Prize in Professional Communication in Mechanical Engineering
- Dr Hui Xin Ong (YY) won the Award for the Reduction in Use of Animals in Research from the University of Sydney
- Mr Sumit Arora won the Drug Delivery to the Lungs 2015 prestigious Pat Burnell Award in Edinburgh
- There were 8 PhD students in the group during 2014 and another 2 in 2015. Dr Yang Chen, Dr Sharon Davis, Dr Wing-Hin Lee and Dr Judy Loo were awarded their PhDs in 2015.

#### International visitors

A number of world leading researchers have visited and spent time on sabbatical with the group in 2014/2015. Visitors included Dr Carsten Ehrhardt (Trinity College, Dublin); Professor Warren Finlay (University of Alberta); Dr Jose Luis Pedraz and Dr Angela Losada (Basque Country University); Mr David Lewis, Mr Alan Tweedie and Ms Gemma Keegan (Chiesi UK) and Dr Rafael Villalobos García (Facultad de Estudios Superiores, Mexico).

Members of the Respiratory Technology team have also spent time overseas conducting research. Dr Hui Xin Ong spent 2014 in Professor Joy Conway's laboratory in the UK undertaking a European Respiratory Society Fellowship in the area of scintigraphy and Dr Mehra Haghi commenced her Humboldt Fellowship in Professor Lehr's group in Germany, focussed on developing cell based models for respiratory drug delivery.



#### Infrastructure

Further expansion and acquisition of infrastructure has continued. Of note, the team has invested in microscopy, analytical and advanced testing instrumentation including HPLC/MS, SEM, rheometry and dissolution testing equipment.

#### **Significant Research Grants**

During 2014/15 members of the group secured a number of new grants totalling >\$3,600,000. These include:

 Professor Daniela Traini and Professor Paul Young: One for all and all for one: Engineering a drug delivery platform for DNA vaccines to the lung (ARC Linkage Grant) - awarded 2014-2017 (\$656,638 including Partner contribution).

*CSI-Sydney: New technologies to treat chronic sinus infection* (NHMRC Development Grant) - awarded 2014-2015 (\$401,708). To develop a new antibiotic formulation and drug delivery system to the paranasal sinuses.

Smartdrops - Shaping the future of particle technology (ARC Discovery Project) - awarded 2015-2017 (\$521,800).

An Integrated Facility for Real-time Localization, Quantification and Characterization of Nanoparticles in the Living Cell Environment (ARC LIEF) – awarded 2014-2015 (\$440,000).

 Professor Paul Young (with Dr Brett Toelle from Respiratory & Environmental Epidemiology): Google Impact Challenge to develop sensors and a mobile app to access and report real-time air quality data - awarded 2015-2016 (\$250,000). Mechanisms of impaired bronchodilator response associated with fatty acid intake in obese asthma (NHMRC Project grant) – awarded 2015-2018 (\$668,469).

#### • Dr Wing-Hin Lee:

Inhalable paclitaxel loaded-iron oxide nanoparticle for lung cancer therapy. Cancer Institute of New South Wales Early Career Fellowship - awarded 2015-2017 (\$592,183).

#### **Industry Partners and Collaborators**

The Respiratory Technology Group has attracted \$250,000 in industry partnership funding in 2014-2015 to support clinical studies in the areas of sleep and breathing.

They have continued to collaborate with research teams across the world in both academia and industry. Industry partners include Chiesi UK, Evonik, Aradigm, AFT and Pharmaxis. Many of these collaborations have resulted in joint grant funding. In addition to our academic and industrial partners, the RespiTech team continues to lead a number of initiatives including OzNose.org and ECR2STAR.org focussing on nasal drug delivery and early career researcher development, respectively.

The OzNose project has already resulted in a successful competitive grant to undertake clinical studies for chronic rhino-sinusitis, while ECR2STAR has engaged thousands of ECRs with helpful and insightful articles. During 2014, the RespiBugs Group was established. RespiBugs is a collaborative team between Associate Professor Cynthia Whitchurch's bacteria and biofilm group at the iThree Institute and the Respiratory Technology Group. This collaboration is to establish new infectious models of the respiratory tract and develop innovative therapies for the treatment of bacteria and biofilm related lung and nasal diseases. The group have shared postdoctoral and postgraduate students working on a number of projects.



L to R Back: Roberto Paleco, Paul Young, Michele Pozzoli, Wing Hin Lee, Marie Hellfritzsch L to R Middle: Stewart Yeung, Alaa Tulbah, Larissa Gomes Dos Reis, Judy Loo, Hui Xin Ong (YY), Daniela Traini L to R Front: Michael Lau, Maree Svolos, Maliheh Ghadiri, Mariam Mamlouk, Lala Sarkissian, Yang Chen

Woolcock Institute of Medical Research BIENNIAL REPORT 2014 - 2015



# SLEEP AND CIRCADIAN

#### Led by Professor Ron Grunstein.

The Sleep and Circadian Research Group conducts patient-centred translational research across a broad spectrum of sleep disorders at our purpose built research centre and affiliated hospitals. Their comprehensive research program is centred on understanding the impact of sleep disorders on health and wellbeing, and developing new diagnostic and therapeutic pathways to improve sleep health.

The group has funded programs of research in several key areas. These include research into the cardiovascular and metabolic consequences of sleep apnoea; cognitive performance and sleep loss; circadian rhythm disorders; shift work and productivity; and impaired brain functioning in sleep disorders such as insomnia, sleep apnoea and sleep movement disorders.

Researchers have expertise in conducting multisite clinical trials and are currently evaluating important new treatments for sleep apnea (weight loss, wakefulness promoters and dental splints), insomnia (sleep restriction therapy and cognitive behaviour therapy); delayed sleep phase disorder and REM behaviour disorder (melatonin); and breathing problems and respiratory failure (non- invasive ventilation).

The research direction of the group reflects the growth of interdisciplinary sleep collaboration.

The over-arching research objectives are to:

- 1. Focus on research to improve sleep health outcomes
- 2. Translate key outcomes of sleep research to clinical practice and policy
- 3. Develop and extend research skills in clinical trials (small and large multi-centre), biostatistics, population health and novel data analysis related to sleep health

An advisory board, comprising representatives from community based groups who offer support to those with sleep disorders, provide the executive committee with a non-research biased focus.

There are four key research streams which aim to:

- 1. Reduce the cardio-metabolic impact of poor sleep
- 2. Improve neurobehavioural performance in individuals with sleep loss
- 3. Increase effectiveness of treatments for sleep disorders
- Use novel approaches and biomarkers to characterise the determinants of, and individual susceptibility for adverse consequences of insufficient or disordered sleep

#### Highlights in 2014-2015

The Sleep group has made a significant contribution to the field of sleep medicine and research publishing 71 peerreviewed original research articles, 24 review articles, four letters to the editor, seven invited editorials and one book chapter.

These research achievements were recognised nationally and internationally with several awards and prizes:

- Chapman J., New investigator award from the Australian Sleep Association April 2014.
- Djavadkhani Y., Young Investigator Award, Australasian Sleep Association meeting, Oct 2015, Melbourne.
- Grunstein R.R., Award: Distinguished Professorial Achievement Award, Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney, 2014.
- Hoyos C., Best oral presentation in the Sleep- disorded Breathing session, TSANZ NSW Branch RNIG Education Days and TSANZ NSW ASM, Sydney, November 2014.
- Hoyos C., New investigator award from the American Academy of Sleep Medicine April 2014.
- Hoyos C., Sydney Medical School New Staff/Early Career Researcher grant, \$25,000, 2014.
- Killick R., Award: Peter Bancroft PhD Prize, Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney for PhD thesis: Hormonal and neurobehavioural effects of sleep restriction and fragmentation, which has been passed by all three examiners without any amendments or recommendations, 2014.
- Killick R., Award: Merit Based Meritorious Award from the Sleep Research Society for: 'Neurobehavioural Effects of 'Catch-up' Sleep in Men with Lifestyle Driven, Chronic, Intermittent Sleep Restriction', SLEEP 2014, The 28th Annual Meeting of the Associated Professional Sleep Society, Minneapolis, May 2014.
- Melehan K.L., Award: Presidential Poster Competition Award for Poster: Melehan K.L., Hoyos C.M., Hamilton G.S., Wong K.K., Yee B.J., McLachlan R.I., Grunstein R.R., and Liu P.Y., 'Adherent CPAP Improves Erectile and Sexual Function and Quality of Life in Men with OSA and Erectile Dysfunction (ED): A Randomised Sham Controlled Study', 16th International Congress of Endocrinology & Endocrinology Society 96th Annual General Meeting, June, 2014.
- Sivam S., Award: American Thoracic Society International Trainee Scholarship Award, awarded \$1,500 (US) from the Assembly of Sleep and Respiratory Neurobiology and provides scholarship support for international trainees to attend the ATS conference, American Thoracic Society International Conference, San Diego, California, May 2014.

 Students Angela D'Rozario, Samuel Bolitho, Kerri Melehan, Clarissa Hanes, Joanne Fuller, Roo Killick, Yu Sun Bin and Christopher Miller (PhD Cotutelle with the University of Glasgow) successfully completed their Doctor of Philosophy (PhD), and Helena Hiu-Laam Cheung completed her honours project.

Professor Ron Grunstein was also awarded an NHMRC Research Fellowship in 2015 which will fund him until 2020.

#### **Significant Research Grants**

In addition to the award of their third successive NHMRC Centre of Research Excellence in Sleep Research (NeuroSleep), they also received other competitive (non-NHMRC) research funding from various sources to support their innovative program of sleep research, including:

- Professor Ron Grunstein: *Research Facility for High density Electroencephalography (HdEEG) Investigation at the University of Sydney.* The University of Sydney, Equipment Grant – awarded 2014 (\$73,134). *High Density Electroencephalography (hdEEG) System.* Perpetual Trustee – awarded 2014, (\$97,312). *A Mouse Biotelemetry System for Stroke, Epilepsy and Sleep Research.* The University of Sydney, Equipment Grant – awarded 2014 (\$74,619).
- Dr Nathaniel Marshall: Determining sleep phenotypes in cancer cohorts: interactions with cancer biology and impacts on quality of life. University of Sydney Cancer SPARC – awarded 2015-2016 (\$155,438).
- Professor Ron Grunstein, Dr Craig Phillips and Dr Nathaniel Marshall: *Fixing Broken Clocks – Increasing capacity in translational Molecular Chronobiology Research.* University of Sydney DVC Research SPARC – awarded 2014-2015 (\$161,864).

#### **Main Current Projects**



#### Woolcock Institute of Medical Research BIENNIAL REPORT 2014 - 2015

### NeuroSleep: The Centre for Translational Sleep and Circadian Neurobiology

This NHMRC Centre of Research Excellence commenced in 2014 combining research teams from the Woolcock Institute, Brain and Mind Centre, Monash Sleep Network and Neuroscience Research Australia (NeuRA, University of New South Wales). The centre investigates the twoway relationship between disrupted sleep and body clock systems and brain disorders. The goal is to improve brain performance and workplace safety and health outcomes, in patients with sleep and circadian dysfunction and in the general community.

NeuroSleep undertakes clinical sleep research in four main research themes:

- 1. Improving alertness and cognition in patients with sleep apnoea
- 2. Neurobehavioural and neurometabolic effects of sleep loss and circadian misalignment
- 3. Translational neurobiological strategies for insomnia; and
- 4. Neurodegenerative and neuropsychiatric disorders in later life sleep and circadian dysfunction.

### The Co-operative Research Centre (CRC) for Alertness, Safety and Productivity

The CRC commenced in 2014 with 7 years funding of \$70 million in cash and in-kind resources from 3 universities (University of Sydney, Monash University, Flinders University) and 28 industry, NGO and government participants. It aims to address the challenge of reversing the impaired productivity and safety implications of insufficient sleep and shift work.

The development of the four major platform projects that will drive the activities of the Alertness CRC over the next three years includes the following streams of activity:

- 1. Laboratory-based development of systems and biomarkers to assess circadian, sleep and alertness states
- Modelling and software development for prediction of alertness and optimisation of scheduling and a data fusion system for the estimation, prediction and control of individual alertness dynamics
- Assessing individual vulnerability to shift work and integrated interventions for alertness management in the healthcare setting
- 4. Sleep disorder phenotyping





#### **Future Developments**

Research Facility for High-density Electroencephalography Investigation

A state-of-the-art research facility for High-density Electroencephalography (hdEEG) Investigation was established mid 2015 complementing the sleep and chronobiology investigation and imaging facilities at the Woolcock Institute and the Brain and Mind Centre. This neurotechnology using simultaneous hdEEG and functional MRI recordings will allow for direct correlation with brain structure and function and investigate links between sleep disorders and brain dysfunction. The equipment will enable the highest quality research in our active research program to improve sleep and health in patients groups such as schizophrenia, major depressive disorder, sleep apnoea, neurodegeneration, and in the ageing population.

#### **Molecular Chronobiology Facility**

The Group are establishing a unique national centre, the Woolcock Molecular Chronobiology Facility (W-MCF) that integrates cutting edge molecular chronobiology and sleep research in a multidisciplinary clinical setting. The proposal is innovative as there is no existing broad-based clinical sleep/molecular chronobiology interdisciplinary team in Australia and only a few internationally. This facility will initially investigate body clock disorders in a range of chronic diseases including those affecting the brain (e.g. dementia), metabolic function (e.g. diabetes), chronic airways (e.g. asthma/COPD) and heart diseases, and mood disorders. The facility will provide measurements such as genotyping, gene expression assays, hormone levels from a range of biological samples specifically integrated with circadian analysis of physiological parameters from experimental studies and clinical trials.

#### Health and Sleep effects of Windfarms

The team (including Ron Grunstein, Nathaniel Marshall, Craig Phillips and Delwyn Bartlet) together with the Woolcock Epidemiology group (Guy Marks, Brett Toelle and Christine Cowie) and wider University of Sydney investigators (Miriam Welgampola and Nick Glozier) have received \$1.94 million to investigate whether the infrasound (below the range of conscious human hearing) generated by windfarms may affect sleep and human health (NHMRC Targeted Call for Research into Wind Farms and Human Health). The Sleep Group's part of this study will be to test in the sleep laboratory over 72 hour whether infrasound compared to sham infrasound and loud traffic noise has effects on sleep and cardiovascular regulation.



L to R Back: Nathaniel Marshall, Dev Banerjee, Keith Wong, Peter Buchanan, Haider Naqvi, Gunnar Unger, Chris Gordon, Craig Phillips, Darren O'Brien, Luke Rowsell, Chris Miller, Nathan Cross

L to R Middle: Liz Cayanan, Jenny Theorell-Haglow, Parisa Hassan, Yasmina Serinel, Paola Espinel Diaz, Janet Cheung, Delwyn Bartlett, Brendon Yee, Richard Gan, David Wang, Ron Grunstein

L to R Front: Roo Killick, Anna Mullins, Camilla Hoyos, Angela D'Rozario, Julia Chapman, Hannah Openshaw, Maria Comas Soberats, Rabiya Atif, Kirsty Dodds

# ANN WOOLCOCK LECTURE 2015

The purpose of the Ann Woolcock Lecture is to facilitate the visit of eminent respiratory clinicians and scientists to the Woolcock and to promote the exchange of ideas, skills and techniques between the Woolcock and international researchers.

In October 2015 we were honoured to have an international colleague, esteemed researcher and eminent clinician, Professor David Price deliver the Ann Woolcock Lecture. Professor Price is Professor of General Practice at the University of Aberdeen, and the founder of several global research companies including Optimum Patient Care.

His talk, *Making a difference to patients and research in Australia* described his achievements in the UK with Optimum Patient Care and presented us with opportunities for the Woolcock to improve patient care for those with respiratory disease in the future. These opportunities and funding to achieve them are currently being followed up by Associate Professor Bosnic-Anticevich.



Board member Julie Osborne with Professor David Price.

# EDUCATION

The Woolcock Institute plays an important role in providing accredited education to health care providers and improving patient outcomes. In 2014 and 2015 we held a number of symposia attracting over 500 GPs, both local and international, physicians and dentists.

Topics covered included:

- Interdisciplinary Assessment for Sleep and Respiratory Disorders;
- Managing Mental Health and Sleep Disorders in Primary Care;
- Sleep Disorders in Primary Care;
- Future of Obstructive Sleep Apnea Management; and
- Respiratory Disorders in Primary Care.



# OUR CLINICS



Building on foundations established in 2012 and 2013, the Woolcock Clinic has continued to expand its research operations and clinical service delivery.

The clinical services are extensive and include the following specialist clinics: CPAP, Insomnia, Paediatric Sleep, Weight, Respiratory Diseases, Complex CPAP and Sleep.

The Woolcock Clinic set a number of records in 2014/15:

- In July 2014 they recorded the highest number of adult and paediatric sleep studies in our history;
- In May 2015 they recorded the highest number of sleep research studies, while still offering routine diagnostic sleep studies;

In 2015 there were a record number of research studies conducted including:

- SLEEEP (Diet, Exercise and Sleep Apnoea);
- COPHA (Hypertension and Sleep), DEAR (Armodafinil);
- Sleep Restriction Therapy (Insomnia treatment);
- Insomnia100 (Phenotyping and Biomarkers);
- DSLP study (Delayed Sleep Phase Disorder);
- M-RBD (REM behaviour disorder); and
- Zopiclone-OSA (effects of the medication Zopiclone on patients with Sleep Apnoea).

#### **New Clinics**

The Woolcock launched two new specialist clinics in 2014 and 2015 with the Honourable Member for Sydney, Tanya Plibersek, officially opening them both.

The first was in April 2014 when the Paediatric Sleep Clinic opened offering two dedicated study beds and consultations with specialist paediatric sleep physicians, Consultants Drs Chris Seton and Chetan Pandit. The second was in July 2015 when immunologist and allergist, Dr John Tan joined with the Woolcock to set up a Paediatric Allergy Clinic.

#### **New Staff**

A number of new staff have joined the Woolcock Clinic which has enabled us to expand the services we offer to both our patients and our clinicians.

In 2014 psychiatrist, Dr Sonia Kumar joined the Woolcock Clinic enabling an expansion of the psychiatric care services and a part-time Clinic Business Development Manager was employed to engage directly with GPs and promote the Clinic, the clinicians and our services.

In 2015, a Clinic Case Coordinator role was created to actively facilitate the cross referral of patients to other Clinic specialists and organise monthly case conference meetings.

#### New Infrastructure and Equipment

In 2014 and 2015 we updated and installed equipment and fitted out new consultation rooms to ensure we have the latest equipment to facilitate research and support paediatric sleep investigations. Our new online patient management system also facilitates smooth running of the clinics for both patients and research participants. We would like to acknowledge and thank the benefactors who made the purchase of this new equipment possible, including David Macintosh and Steven and Natalie Hall.

#### Training

A Woolcock Sleep Technician Training School (STTS) was established in 2015 with the first students commencing in March of that year. The STTS enables cost neutral training of science and health students interested in sleep medicine to be trained in the correct setup and overnight monitoring of sleep patients. Contingent on successful completion of the course, employment opportunities in the Woolcock Sleep Unit are offered to suitable candidates.



### WOOLCOCK WORKPLACE GENDER EQUALITY

The Workplace Gender Equality Agency conducted research in 2014-15 looking at gender equality benchmarks across organisations in Australia. The Woolcock Institute participated and was compared with similar organisations in the Scientific Research Services sector.

The results indicate that the Woolcock Institute has a high representation of women in senior management and

executive positions. Further data also revealed a much lower gender pay gap than at comparable organisations. The Woolcock Institute was also shown to have formal and informal flexible working arrangements for both males and females at both the manager and non-manager level across a number of measures. We are proud of our record in this area.

# NEW INITIATIVES FOR RESEARCH

#### Lung Cancer Research Centre

In 2015 the Woolcock Institute was granted support from the NSW state government for infrastructure for a lung cancer research centre. We will receive \$3 million to build state of the art laboratories and create a biobank of lung tissue which links up the lung cancer research centres across NSW. In addition a sophisticated bioinformatics platform will share research results across the Lung Cancer Research Network (of more than 25 teams) in order to fast track solutions for lung cancer. The Lung Cancer Research Network is a group of world-class researchers from over 20 hospitals, research centres, universities and organisations that are united in the goal to better understand, treat and prevent this killer disease. These specialists will come together to share data and launch large multidisciplinary projects to rapidly progress avenues of research.

The Centre will operate in conjunction with the Lung Cancer Research Network.

#### Centre of Research Excellence in Emphysema

At the end of 2015, private benefactors, the Ernest Heine Family Foundation and the Janice Elizabeth Gibson Fund, agreed to fund the Woolcock Institute to create a Centre of Research Excellence in Emphysema – the Woolcock Emphysema Centre. The fund of \$1.4 million will set up several new research programs and grow the community based clinic to help people with emphysema/COPD. This will strengthen and expand the existing emphysema research at the Woolcock Institute.



Woolcock Institute of Medical Research BIENNIAL REPORT 2014 - 2015

# **RESEARCH LEADERS**





#### **Professor Carol Armour**

Professor Armour has worked in the area of asthma research at a basic scientific and clinical level. Her investigations span the breadth of asthma research from cellular mechanisms to the translation of new ways to treat asthma within the health system. She is on the Australian Respiratory Council, the National Asthma Council and has chaired the National Asthma Monitoring Advisory Committee, worked on the National Therapeutic Guidelines and the Australian Medicines Handbook. From 2003-2006 she was a member of the NHMRC Research Committee and was the Chair of the Training Awards Committee. She was Pro-Vice Chancellor, Research, at the University of Sydney (2006-2009). In 2005 she was made a Fellow of the Pharmaceutical Society for her services to the profession, and she was awarded the Australasian Pharmaceutical Science Association (APSA) medal for research in 2007. She is currently an Associate Dean in the Sydney Medical School and a Professor of Pharmacology in the Sydney Medical School. In July 2012 she was appointed the Executive Director of the Woolcock Institute of Medical Research.

#### Associate Professor Sinthia Bosnic-Anticevich

Professor Sinthia Bosnic-Anticevich is an internationally recognised leader in clinical pharmacy research in the field of respiratory medicine; in particular the quality use of respiratory medicines. She leads national and international research groups focusing on the use of respiratory medicines in different patient populations. Professor Bosnic-Anticevich works across the continuum of health care settings, with a multidimensional and inter-professional approach to better understand and improving health outcomes for patients using respiratory medicines.

Professor Bosnic-Anticevich is the author of over 80 research publications (21 during 2014-2015) and has attracted over \$11 million of research funding (over \$2.5 million during 2014-2015). She is actively involved in the mentoring and supervision of research students and early career researchers. Professor Bosnic-Anticevich is on the executive committee of Allergic Rhinitis in Asthma (ARIA), the body responsible for creating guidelines for the management of allergic rhinitis and Chair of the Pharmacy ARIA group. Professor Bosnic-Anticevich is a member of the executive committee of the Respiratory Effectiveness Group, an investigator-led, not-for-profit research initiative that has been set up in recognition of the potential value of reallife research and the need to harness real-life evidence to inform meaningful practice guidelines, drug licensing and prescribing decisions. In this capacity she provides international leadership in setting research standards and excellence in real-life research and in evaluating mechanisms for integrating real-life research into clinical guidelines and practice.



#### **Associate Professor Janette Burgess**

Professor Janette Burgess headed the Matrix Biology Division within the Respiratory Cellular and Molecular Biology Group and had an NHMRC Career Development Fellow from 2012-2015. She is recognised nationally and internationally as a leader in the field of abnormalities in the extracellular matrix – the structural framework of all organs – to diseases such as asthma, fibrosis and smoking induced disease in the lung. Professor Burgess and her group have reported quintessential differences in the matrix that may provide a key to understanding the mechanisms underlying both increases and decreases in the matrix and tissue remodelling in the lung during disease and their biological sequelae.

In July 2015 Professor Burgess was awarded the distinguished Rosalind Franklin Fellowship and moved to the University of Groningen in The Netherlands.



#### **Professor Ron Grunstein**

Professor Ron Grunstein has been a consultant physician in sleep disorders for over 30 years and a pioneer in improving patient care in sleep medicine in Australia and internationally. He is currently a Senior Principal Research Fellow of the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC's highest level research appointment) and Professor of Sleep Medicine at the University of Sydney. Ron heads the Sleep and Circadian Research Group at the Woolcock Institute and the NHMRC's Centre of Research Excellence in Sleep and Circadian Translational Neurobiology aka "Neurosleep". As well, he is Program Leader in the Co-operative Research Centre in Alertness, Safety and Productivity part-funded by the Commonwealth Department of Industry to answer the challenge of poor sleep and sleepiness impacting on driving, work and society in general.

From 2007-2011, Professor Grunstein served as President of the World Sleep Federation, the roof body for sleep researchers and clinicians internationally organising successful world congresses in Cairns and Kyoto. He was awarded the Australasian Sleep Association Distinguished Achievement Award in 2010, the Kleitman Award, the premier award of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine in 2011 and the Royal Prince Alfred Foundation Medal for Excellence in Medical Research in 2012. In 2014, he received the Distinguished Professor Award from the Sydney Medical School. He has published over 250 peer reviewed articles in sleep research and 40 book chapters. He has a Bachelor of Medicine and Surgery and MD degrees from the University of Sydney and a PhD from the University of Gothenburg in Sweden.



#### Associate Professor Greg King

Professor King is a medical graduate of Otago University and a clinician-researcher at the Woolcock Institute of Medical Research, The University of Sydney and Royal North Shore Hospital. He is Conjoint Associate Professor of the Sydney Medical School, The University of Sydney and Medical Director of the Respiratory Investigation Unit. He has a research interest in the mechanics of airways disease in relation to clinical aspects of disease. His expertise includes complex measurements of airway and lung function, including the forced oscillation technique, multiple breath nitrogen washout and 3-dimensional ventilation imaging and CT imaging. He currently supervises 7 PhD students (6 as primary supervisor) and postdoctoral fellows from science and medical backgrounds. He has a clinical and research interest in asthma, COPD and bronchiolitis in haemopoietic stem cell transplant recipients. Professor King maintains active participation in the activities of the TSANZ and ATS in terms of teaching, professional development and executive committee function.



#### **Professor Guy Marks**

Professor Guy Marks is a respiratory physician and environmental epidemiologist. His main research interests are in chronic respiratory disease (asthma and COPD), tuberculosis control and the adverse health effects of exposure to air pollution. He is Professor of Respiratory Medicine at UNSW, South Western Sydney Clinical School. He is currently an NHMRC Senior Principal Research Fellow. He is head of the Respiratory and Environmental Epidemiology group at the Woolcock Institute and an Honorary Professor at the University of Sydney (Sydney Medical School).

His other major roles include Editor-in-Chief (lung diseases) of the *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, Vice President of the International Union Against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease, Director of the Australian Centre for Airways Monitoring (a collaborating unit of the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare), Chair of the NSW TB Advisory Committee, and Chair of the NSW Chief Health Officer's Expert Advisory Committee on Air Pollution. He also received an Achievement Award by the NHMRC in 2014 for being the top-ranked applicant for a Research Fellowship in that year.







#### **Associate Professor Brian Oliver**

Professor Oliver is an NHMRC Career Development Fellow level 2 and an Associate Professor at the University of Technology, Sydney (UTS), who leads a productive team of researchers investigating the pathophysiology of respiratory diseases, with a particular emphasis on understanding mechanisms leading to disease exacerbations and progression.

He is head of the Respiratory Cellular and Molecular Biology Group, at the Woolcock Institute, the President of LAM Australia, and the Treasurer of the TSANZ NSW.

#### **Clinical Associate Professor Helen Reddel**

Professor Helen Reddel is a respiratory physician working to improve treatment for asthma and COPD. She is a Research Leader in the Clinical Management Group at the Woolcock Institute of Medical Research, Chair of the Science Committee of the Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA), Clinical Adviser for the Australian Centre for Airways Disease Monitoring (ACAM), and a member of the Australian Asthma Handbook Guidelines Committee. Professor Reddel's current research focusses on strategies to improve the management of asthma and COPD, with particular interest in improving the quality prescribing and use of respiratory medications in primary care, and population level monitoring of asthma and COPD through ACAM. She is co-chairing a multinational longitudinal study of 15,000 patients with asthma and/or COPD that aims to identify underlying disease mechanisms so that targeted treatments can be developed. Professor Reddel has a strong focus on improving communication between patients and health professionals, and on making guidelines not only evidence-based, but also practical and practice-centred.



#### **Dr Cindy Thamrin**

Dr Cindy Thamrin is a Research Leader and NHMRC Career Development Fellow at the Airway Physiology and Imaging Group, Woolcock Institute of Medical Research, and a Senior Research Fellow at the University of Sydney. She has a dual background in respiratory physiology and electronic engineering from the University of Western Australia. Her PhD in 2006 at the Telethon Institute for Child Health Research, Perth, extended a lung function test known as the forced oscillation technique to track changes in airway mechanics with lung volume. Her postdoctoral research at the University Hospital of Bern, Switzerland, focussed on assessing future risk in asthma using novel variability analyses of lung function. Her current research interests are clinical application of new lung function tests, and advanced respiratory data analytics, especially applied to home tele-monitoring of asthma and COPD.



#### **Dr Brett Toelle**

Dr Brett Toelle is a Senior Research Fellow working within the Respiratory and Environmental Epidemiology Group. For over 27 years he has been involved in the population studies of lung disease which have included studies of pre-school children, schoolchildren, twins, community based adults and occupational work groups. His recent work has focussed on asthma as the participants in the Childhood Asthma Prevention Study (CAPS) transition through puberty and on COPD as part of the Australian Burden of Lung Disease (BOLD) project of adults aged 40+ years from six sites around the country. He is also a psychologist and undertook a PhD investigating "Factors associated with non-adherence to prescribed asthma medication". During his psychology internship he worked with psychologists in the sleep researcher group and clinicians in the Royal Prince Alfred Insomnia Clinic.



#### Associate Professor Euan Tovey

Professor Tovey is interested in different biological exposures that make asthma worse, with the aim of developing ways to reduce symptoms and prevent the disease. Most people with asthma are allergic to indoor and outdoor allergens and exposure to these can increase symptoms. Our group's research has contributed to both identifying these allergens and in measuring personal exposure to them, most recently over the course of the day and night. Additionally we are interested in the role of respiratory viruses in making asthma worse. We have contributed methods to measuring viral infections over time in children and have applied these in field studies to understand their contribution to asthma symptoms. Finally, like many researchers, we are fascinated by emerging discoveries about the role of the body's own large pool of resident bacteria in changing susceptibility to disease. This may help explain how modern lifestyle changes in recent times have increased asthma prevalence and provide new ways to prevent asthma and allergic diseases. Professor Tovey retired in August 2015.



#### Professor Daniela Traini

Professor Traini is a Professor in Respiratory Science at The University of Sydney and an ARC Future Fellow. Her research portfolio covers all areas of respiratory research, from bench to bedside and she is an international leader in pulmonary drug delivery.

Professor Traini leads the Respiratory Technology group at the Woolcock Institute and works in collaboration with Professor Young. Over the last 11 years since joining the University of Sydney, and before during her 5 years in industry, she developed a leading research program on aerosol drug delivery, from powder engineering, aerosol generation and characterization, in vitro to in vivo lung deposition to clinical outcomes. Professor Traini has extensive experience in both academic and industrial pharmaceutics, and still retains strong link with the pharmaceutical industry. Since 2005 she has published over 155 full peer reviewed manuscripts, has 5 patents and has attracted more than \$11M in competitive funding.



#### **Professor Paul Young**

Professor Young is a Professor in Respiratory Technology at Sydney Medical School (Discipline of Pharmacology), Head of Respiratory Technology at the Woolcock and an ARC Future Fellow. Professor Young has 20 years' experience in inhalation drug development with a focus on medical device engineering and industry engagement. He is an internationally recognised expert in the field of inhalation technology and has published >170 peer reviewed journal articles since 2002 (>3000 citations), 6 patents, 16 book chapters and in excess of 150 conference proceedings. He has an H-index of 32 and 5-year i10 index of 97. Professor Young has received > \$15M for projects and infrastructure since 2005 and has a proven track record in securing category 1 ARC and NHMRC funding. His research team of around 20 personnel are considered world leaders in the field of aerosol science.

# **DISTINGUISHED ALUMNI**





#### **Professor Marie Bashir**

Professor Marie Bashir has invested time and energy in the Woolcock Institute over many years. As a medical practitioner herself, she supports the Woolcock model – the care of respiratory and sleep patients as well as investigation of their disease in order to improve their lives. Professor Bashir has supported our international visitors, attended all our alumni events and donated her time to support our Institute. In 2013 the Woolcock leaders and supporters enjoyed her hospitality at Government House. She is a warm and generous supporter who, on every occasion when asked for help, has been willing to give of herself.



#### **Professor Norbert Berend**

Professor Norbert Berend retired from his Chair of Thoracic Medicine and as Director of the Woolcock Institute of Medical Research on 30 June 2012. Norbert led the Institute through a time of great change, had oversight of the negotiations to house the whole Institute in one building, sought funding and achieved the dream. At the time he became Director, the Institute had fewer than 20 employees in temporary homes on the University and RPA Hospital grounds. In 2012, the Woolcock Institute had more than 150 employees and associate staff and 55 postgraduate students, all of whom work in a state-of-the-art research institute. During this period he also led the development of respiratory research within the Asia Pacific region.



#### **Professor Ruthven Blackburn**

Professor Ruthven Blackburn had the vision to see that Sydney needed a clinical research institute – preferably associated with the University of Sydney. At the time there was very little research being undertaken in respiratory medicine. A group of like-minded individuals led by him and Ann Woolcock started the Institute of Respiratory medicine. From there, the Woolcock started to nurture national and international stars and we owe our existence and excellence to his vision and leadership. We remain extremely grateful to Professor Blackburn and his passing is mourned by the many at the Woolcock who knew him.



#### **Professor Christine Jenkins**

Professor Christine Jenkins worked tirelessly with the other research leaders as a team and led them through as they considered their strategy at a time of great change. Professor Jenkins ran the education program for the Woolcock Institute, especially the Think Tank program which has considerably enriched our research and scientific interchange, as well as the professional development program for health care professionals. The invited internationally renowned speakers she hosted at our Institute and the facilitation of interaction with research leaders has enriched our research programs. Her guidance has led to new research directions, collaborations and grants. Professor Jenkins was also a very active member of the two Respiratory CRC programs.



#### **Professor Cheryl Salome**

Professor Cheryl Salome has had more than 25 years' experience in respiratory research, particularly in the causes and mechanisms of asthma. Professor Salome worked very closely with Ann Woolcock during her career and was responsible for leading and facilitating epidemiology, cell biology and lung physiology. She nurtured the lung physiology group, recruited PhD students, had oversight of all projects, made sure the research experience was a valuable one and then mentored these rising stars until they became independent research leaders. Her students have gone on to lead the world in lung physiology. Meanwhile, never one to step into the limelight, Professor Salome worked at the Woolcock Institute facilitating the Friday research seminars, the Think Tank and continued to write manuscripts and successful grant applications which changes the way we think about airway disease.



#### **Professor Paul Seale**

Over the years Professor Seale has nurtured many of us, provided advice when asked, opened doors and facilitated pathways. He has been involved in grants and a multitude of clinical trials and fostered the next generation of medical and science students in terms of clinical pharmacology. However, at the Woolcock Institute, he was particularly valued as the leader of the clinical trials unit for 10 years. Professor Seale ensured that the unit was successful, safe and governed appropriately. He has served as our Deputy Director and in this role he provided sage advice for the management team on all matters of governance.



#### **Professor Euan Tovey**

Over the many years of his scientific career Professor Euan Tovey focused on allergy research, particularly the house dust mite. He was a Senior Research Fellow of the NHMRC, an award reserved for leading health and medical researchers. He has been inducted into the Asthma NSW Hall of Fame and has delivered on a multitude of research grants to investigate asthma mechanisms. His inquisitive and innovative mind is evidenced by his long list of patents. He invented many novel mechanisms and devices which he also followed through with development and the Woolcock is grateful for his passion and commitment to research and our Institute.



# OUR MEDIA PROFILE



#### Media Highlights 2014-2015

During 2014 -2015 the Woolcock Institute continued to build its media presence with a number of national TV, radio, print and magazine stories.

National and local media stories covered a range of topics and featured Woolcock spokespeople answering questions on sleep, asthma; sleeping pills, Paediatric Sleep Clinic, Paediatric Allergy Clinic, air pollution, bushfire smoke, snoring, shift work, tuberculosis, jet-lag, food allergies, restless legs, and hay fever.

Key media events were:

16 September 2014 - AMAZES asthma trial featured nationally on Channel 7 news. It generated the highest peak in website hits since the new website was launched - 2914 sessions in one day. There were also over 300 calls and emails to the Woolcock Institute in the evening following the news.

### FUNDRAISING

2014-2015 saw the implementation phase of the Woolcock's new fundraising strategy. The strategy forms the framework for a strategic and systematic approach to cultivating existing relationships and developing new ones.

Activities include the engagement of two fundraising champions who promote the fundraising needs of the Woolcock to the community at large as well as to their personal networks; and the production of a series of videos aimed at highlighting Woolcock research and funding needs to the community, patients and stakeholders. In particular, the Centre for Lung Cancer Research video was used to successfully secure funding for the initiative with the State Government of NSW.

2014-2015 also saw the implementation of the Woolcock's major medical philanthropy program, the Grateful Patient Program. Based on the evidence that 50% of donors to health and medical research donate as a consequence of having personally experienced illness or disease, the Grateful Patient Program was specifically developed to support patient giving through a process of research awareness, clinician engagement, recognition, response and referral to our development staff. This program is expected to result in several major donations during 2016-2017.

14 September 2015 – a story on the Obstructive Sleep Apnoea (OSA) and Dementia study aired on Channel 9 News. This story generated 930 phone enquiries.

24 September 2015 - a story on the ZopOSA study aired on Channel 9 News. This story generated 3796 phone enquiries and significantly increased traffic to the website.

The high level of interest generated by these media stories enabled the researchers to recruit large numbers of eligible and engaged trial participants.

In the period 2014-2015, a total of \$234,375 was raised through annual and regular donations. There was a 3-fold increase in the number of donations received over the previous year with 25% of donations coming from donors who donated to the Woolcock for the first time.

In 2015 the Woolcock erected two Honour Boards in the foyer of the Woolcock building to celebrate and acknowledge the major contributions made by a number of individuals and organisations over its history. At this time a total of ten Patrons and six Distinguished Alumni have been recognised in this way.

### GOVERNANCE

### Woolcock Institute of Medical Research

Corporate Governance Structure



# **BOARD OF DIRECTORS**





#### Robert Estcourt (Chairman of the Board)

Appointed 14 September 2005

MA Fin. (Exeter), BA Ec. (Hons) (University of Cape Town). Director Brookvine Pty Limited (2004 -); Director e-Clipse Online (2010 -); Director Innova Asset Management (2014 -); Investment Consultant to The Royal Australian & New Zealand College of Ophthalmologists (RANZCO) Board (2013 -); Independent Investment Committee Member Charter Hall Opportunity Funds (2005 - 2014); Chairman Austock Asset Management (2007 - 2009), Director & Chief Executive Officer, Retail Cube Limited, (2004 - 2006); Principal, Estcourt Associates, (2003 -); Director of AMP Portfolio Businesses, (2002 - 2003); Director and Head of Cobalt RunOff Services Ltd, (2000 - 2002); AMP Group GIO Task Force, (1999 - 2000); Director, AMP Asset Management, (1992 - 1999); Head of AMP Investments, New Zealand, (1990 - 1992); Head of Investment Strategy; Equity Research, AMP Investments, (1986 - 1990); Assistant General Manager, Investment Division, UAL Merchant Bank, (1974 - 1986).



#### **Professor Carol Armour (Executive Director)**

Appointed 10 April 2012 Appointed Executive Director 1 July 2012

PhD, FPS. Professor Armour has worked in the area of asthma research at a basic scientific and clinical level. Her investigations span the breadth of asthma research from the cellular mechanisms to the translation of new ways to treat asthma within the health system. She is on the Australian Respiratory Council, The National Asthma Council and has chaired the National Asthma Monitoring Advisory Committee, worked on the National Therapeutic Guidelines and the Australian Medicines Handbook. From 2003 2006 she was a member of the NH MRC Research Committee and was the Chair of the Training Awards Committee. She was Pro Vice Chancellor, Research, at the University of Sydney, from 2006 2009. In 2005 she was made a Fellow of the Pharmaceutical Society for her services to the profession, and she was awarded the Australasian Pharmaceutical Science Association (APSA) medal for research in 2007. She is currently an Associate Dean in the Sydney Medical School and a Professor of Pharmacology in the Sydney Medical School.



#### Simon Blackburn

Appointed 20 September 2013

BS, Hons (Sydney), BE, Hons and University Medal (Sydney), PhD (Cambridge). Director, The Hunger Project Australia (2014 -); Senior Partner, McKinsey & Company, Sydney (2012 -); Partner, McKinsey & Company, Sydney (2008 - 2012); Partner, McKinsey & Company, Boston (2004 - 2008); Consultant, McKinsey & Company, Boston (1997 - 2004); Director, Parents as Teachers, USA (2007 - 2013); Director Massachusetts STEM collaborative, USA (2004 - 2007); Research Engineer, Telstra (1992 - 1993).



#### **Professor Macdonald Christie**

Appointed 1 March 2013

BSc(Hons), PhD. Professor Christie completed a PhD at The University of Sydney in 1983. He was an Australian Postdoctoral Fellow in 1985 (NHMRC), a Fogarty International Fellow at Massachusetts Institute of Technology from 1985 - 1987 and then Senior Research Associate at the Vollum Institute in Oregon, USA from 1987 - 1990. Appointed as a tenured academic in the Department of Pharmacology, The University of Sydney in June 1990, where he was Head of Department from 1998 - 2000, full professor (personal chair) from 1999 and Medical Foundation Senior Principal Research Fellow from 1998 - 2002. NHMRC Senior Principal Research Fellow since 2003. Served as Director of Basic Research at the Pain Management Research Institute (2003 - 2008) and Brain & Mind Research Institute (2009 - 2011) University of Sydney. Appointed as Professor of Pharmacology in June 2011. Associate Dean Research, Sydney Medical School (2013 -).



#### **Oliver Frankel**

Appointed 30 May 2012

B.Com, LLB (UNSW), LLM (UVa), GAICD. Director, Museums and Galleries NSW (2011 - 2015); Chair of Museums and Galleries NSW (2013 - 2015); Various general management roles at NRMA Motoring & Services (2006 - 2014), including Deputy CEO of Thrifty Car Rental (wholly-owned by NRMA); Director Corporate Finance, Trafalgar Corporate Group (2001 - 2005); Previous experience includes over fifteen years practicing law at leading law firms in Australia (Allens), the UK (Linklaters) and the US (White & Case), including 6 years as a Partner of Linklaters (specializing in corporate finance and M&A); and over 2 years as a senior executive with the AFP Investment Corporation Group.



#### Julie Osborne

Appointed 30 May 2012

BEc, LLM (Syd), GAICD. Non-exec director Assetinsure Holdings Pty Limited and Assetinsure Pty Limited (2014 -); Starlight Children's Foundation - NSW Advisory Board member (2011 -); Westpac Banking Corporation - Executive Director and Head of Structured Finance, Treasury (2003 - 2010), Director and Head of Structured Finance (1999 - 2003), Director Corporate and Structured Finance (1997 - 1999); Associate Director Corporate and Structured Finance (1995 - 1997); Commonwealth Bank of Australia Senior Manager Asset and Structured Finance (1995); KPMG Consultant and Senior Manager Taxation (1987 - 1995).



#### **Professor Matthew Peters**

Appointed 8 October 2015

MD FRACP. Professor Matthew Peters is a Respiratory Physician and Head of Respiratory Medicine at Concord Hospital. He holds Academic appointments at Macquarie University and Sydney University. He has long had an interest in Preventative Health and was Chair of Action on Smoking and Health (ASH) for many years. He is a past President of the Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand. He has research interests in Respiratory Physiology including aspects of physiology in breath hold divers and the pulmonary and cardiac responses to hypoxia.



#### **Professor Bruce Robinson**

Appointed 30 May 2006

MD, MSc, FRACP. Fellow in Medicine, Harvard Medical School (1986 - 1988); Instructor in Medicine, Harvard Medical School (1988 - 1989); Head, Molecular Genetics Unit, Kolling Institute of Medical Research (1989 -); Professor of Medicine (Endocrinology), University of Sydney (1992); Head, Department of Medicine, University of Sydney, Northern Clinical School (1996 - 2001); Chairman, Department of Medicine, University of Sydney (1998 - 1999); Head, Division of Medicine, Royal North Shore Hospital (1998 - 2006); Chairman, Hoc Mai, Australia Vietnam Medical Foundation, University of Sydney (2001 -); Associate Dean (International) Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney (2003 - 2005); Dean, Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney (2006 -).





#### Michael Wallace

Appointed 30 May 2012

M.Sc.Soc., B.Sc. Chief Operating Officer, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Healthcare (2012 -); Director, Australian Institute of Health Service Managers (2009 -) Director, Health Insight NSW Pty Ltd (2012 -), Chief Executive, Health Reform Transition Organisation (Western) (2011 - 2012); Adjunct Professor UTAS (2005 -); Chief Executive, Sydney South West Area Health Service (2006 - 2011); Director of Clinical Operations, Sydney South West Area Health Service (2004 - 2006); Deputy Chief Executive, Central Sydney Area Health Service (1993 - 2004); General Manager, Prince Henry, Prince of Wales, Prince of Wales Children's and Royal South Sydney Hospitals (1983 - 1993); Director Medical Administration, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital (1982 - 1983); Chief Executive Officer positions NSW Health (1969 - 1983).



#### Ian White (Company Secretary)

Appointed 1 May 2012

B.Bus, FCPA, ACIS. Ian has over 30 years' experience within the financial services industry. Ian spent twenty four years with AMP where his career spanned many administrative and financial roles, both domestic and international. Since leaving AMP, Ian has contracted to many organisations, large and small, providing finance, governance, risk and compliance support across the banking, insurance, financial planning and funds management industries. Prior to engaging with the Woolcock Institute, Ian worked in risk assessment at the Commonwealth Bank.



#### Iven H. Young (Clinical Professor)

Appointed 21 August 1997

BSc (Med), MB, BS, PhD, FRACP. Respiratory Physician (1975 -); Research Fellow University of Sydney (1974 - 1976); Post-Doctoral Fellow University of California, San Diego (1976 - 1978); Visiting Medical Officer, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital (1979 - 1985) and Senior Staff Specialist in Respiratory Medicine, RPAH (1985 - 2012); Head, Department of Respiratory and Sleep Medicine, RPAH (1991 - 2009); Honorary Visiting Respiratory Physician, RPAH (2012 -); Emeritus Member of Thoracic Society of Australia & New Zealand; Director and Chair of Research Committee, Australian Respiratory Council; Senior examiner for the Australian Medical Council (1997); elected to the adult medicine division of the Royal Australasian College of Physicians (2000 - 2001); Chair, Division of Medicine RPAH (2010).

# COMMITTEES

#### **Board Committees**

Below is a list of the Board committees that operated in 2014 and 2015 and their membership.

#### **Finance and Risk Committee**

Members: Julie Osbourne (C), Oliver Frankel, Carol Armour, Robert Estcourt

#### **Executive Management and Committees**

Below is a list of the Woolcock Institute committees that operated in 2014 and 2015 and their membership.

#### Woolcock Executive Committee

Members: Greg King, Janette Burgess/Julia Chapman, Brett Toelle, Paul Young, Dev Banerjee, Joanne Elliot, Kerstin Baas, Angela D'Rozario/Christine Cowie, Carol Armour (C),

#### **Next Generation Committee**

Members: Camilla Hoyos, Cindy Thamrin, Michael Guo, Brian Oliver, Wing Lee, Yang Chen, Qi Ge, Christopher Miller, Roo Killick, Joanne Fuller, Angela D'Rozario (C), Christine Cowie (C)

#### **Research Committee**

Members: Brett Toelle, Bandana Saini, Craig Phillips, Daniela Traini, Brian Oliver, Lyn Moir, Carol Armour, Joanne Elliot, Greg King (C)

#### **Clinic Committee**

Members: Ron Grunstein, Simon Lewis, Darren O'Brien, Chris Blackwell, Michelle Shahidi, Fran Clements, Delwyn Bartlett, Nick Stow, Sharalynne Allsopp, Kirsty Dodds, Dev Banerjee (C)

#### **Operations Committee**

Members: John Reynolds, Ann Leadbitter, Cansy Ittimani, Gunnar Ungar, Lyn Moir, Frances Russell, Joanne Elliot (C)

#### **Profile Committee**

Members: Alicia Wong, Lucy Williams, Joanne Elliot, Euan Tovey, Lyn Moir, Sinthia Bosnic-Anticevich, Dev Banerjee, Paul Young (C)

#### Postgraduate Committee

Members: Joanne Fuller, Kirsty Dodds, Nathan Cross, Lala Sarkissian, Paul Mason, Katrina Tonga, Alicia Mitchell, Monique de Pedro, Amandine Laur, Biljana Cvetkovski, Louise Harkness, Amanda Elaro, Carissa Hanes, Razia Zakarya, Kate Hardaker, Nessa Banville, Mehra Haghi, Alen Faiz, Janette Burgess (C), Julia Chapman (C).

#### **IT Committee**

Members: John Reynolds, Gunnar Ungar, Qi Ge, Alicia Wong, Joanne Elliot, Anna Mullins, Brett Toelle (C)



### **OUR FINANCIALS**



STATEMENT OF INCOME	\$	\$
REVENUE	2015	2014
Revenue	12,552,025	12,547,121
Total revenue	12,552,025	12,547,121
EXPENSES	2015	2014
Personnel expenses	(6,462,931)	(6,270,604)
Depreciation expenses	(1,180,521)	(1,156,707)
Occupancy expenses	(725,487)	(714,012)
Research equipment and materials	(3,076,197)	(3,071,647)
Office administration and materials	(471,117)	(439,552)
Other expenses	(1,238,645)	(1,267,285)
Total Expenditure	(13,154,898)	(12,919,807)
Surplus/(deficit) from operating activities	(602,873)	(372,686)
BALANCE SHEET	\$	\$
ASSETS	2015	2014
Cash and cash equivalents	7,048,150	7,145,229
Trade and other receivables	1,462,635	1,221,806
Other financial assets	1,068,764	1,356,624
Other assets	128,695	125,733
Total current assets	9,708,244	9,849,392
Property, plant and equipment	3,332,983	4,094,023
Total non current assets	3,332,983	4,094,023
Total assets	13,041,227	13,943,415
LIABILITIES	2015	2014
Trade and other payables	605,030	774,403
Provisions	397,736	633,812
Other liabilities	4,224,719	4,133,556
Total current liabilities	5,227,485	5,541,771
Provisions	242,789	227,818
Total non current liabilities	242,789	227,818
Total liabilities	5,470,274	5,769,589
Net assets	7,570,953	8,173,826
EQUITY	2015	2014
Accumulated funds	7,570,953	8,173,826
Total current liabilities	7,570,953	8,173,826







### **OUR PUBLICATIONS**



#### 2014

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, **Poulos, L. M., Cooper, S. J., Ampon, R., Reddel, H. K.** and **Marks, G. B**. 2014. Mortality from asthma and COPD in Australia. Cat. no. ACM 30. Canberra: AIHW.

Al Aloola, N. A., **Naik-Panvelkar, P.**, Nissen, L., & Saini, B. (2014). Asthma interventions in primary schools-a review. *Journal of Asthma*, 51(8), 779-798.

Alkhouri, H., Cha, V., Tong, K., **Moir, L. M., Armour, C. L.**, & Hughes, J. M. (2014). Human Lung Mast Cell Products Regulate Airway Smooth Muscle CXCL10 Levels. *Journal of Allergy (Cairo)*, 2014, 875105.

Alkhouri, H., **Moir, L. M., Armour, C. L.**, & Hughes, J. M. (2014). CXCL1 is a negative regulator of mast cell chemotaxis to airway smooth muscle cell products in vitro. *Clinical and Experimental Allergy*, 44(3), 381-392.

Alkhouri, H., Rumzhum, N. N., Rahman, M. M., Fitzpatrick, M., **de Pedro, M., Oliver, B. G.**, Ammit, A. J. (2014). TLR2 activation causes tachyphylaxis to  $\beta$ 2 -agonists in vitro and ex vivo: modelling bacterial exacerbation. *Allergy*, 69(9), 1215-1222.

Alsaadi, S. M., McAuley, J. H., Hush, J. M., **Bartlett, D. J.**, McKeough, Z. M., **Grunstein, R. R. Dungan, G. C.**, 2nd & Maher, C. G. (2014). Assessing sleep disturbance in low back pain: the validity of portable instruments. *PLoS ONE*, 9(4), e95824.

Alsaadi, S. M., McAuley, J. H., Hush, J. M., Lo, S., **Bartlett**, **D. J., Grunstein, R. R.**, & Maher, C. G. (2014). The bidirectional relationship between pain intensity and sleep disturbance/quality in patients with low back pain. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 30(9), 755-765.

Baker, K. E., Bonvini, S. J., Donovan, C., Foong, R. E., Han, B., Jha, A., **Moir, L. M.** (2014). Novel drug targets for asthma and COPD: lessons learned from in vitro and in vivo models. *Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 29(2), 181-198.

**Banville, N., Burgess, J. K., Jaffar, J., Tjin, G.,** Richeldi, L., Cerri, S., Persiani, E., **Black, J. L. & Oliver, B. G.** (2014). A Quantitative Proteomic Approach to Identify Significantly Altered Protein Networks in the Serum of Patients with Lymphangioleiomyomatosis (LAM). *PLoS ONE*, 9(8), e105365.

Basheti, I. A., **Bosnic-Anticevich, S. Z., Armour, C. L.,** & **Reddel, H. K.** (2014). Checklists for powder inhaler technique: a review and recommendations. *Respiratory Care*, 59(7), 1140-1154.

Basheti, I. A., Qunaibi, E. A., Hamadi, S. A., & **Reddel**, **H. K.** (2014). Inhaler technique training and health-care professionals: effective long-term solution for a current problem. *Respiratory Care*, 59(11), 1716-1725. Beasley, R., Weatherall, M., Shirtcliffe, P., Hancox, R., & **Reddel, H. K.** (2014). Combination corticosteroid/ beta-agonist inhaler as reliever therapy: a solution for intermittent and mild asthma? *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 133(1), 39-41.

**Berend**, **N.** (2014). Respiratory disease and respiratory physiology: putting lung function into perspective interstitial lung disease. *Respirology*, 19(7), 952-959.

Bissel, K., Viney, K., Brostrom, R., Gounder, S., Khogali, M., Kishore, K., **Marks, G.**, Harries, A. D. (2014). Building operational research capacity in the Pacific. *Public Health Action*, 4(Supplement 1), 12.

Black, J. L., Yin Ng, H., & Moir, L. M. (2014). Therapeutic strategies in lymphangioleiomyomatosis (LAM). *Respiratory Investigation*, 52(1), 3-4.

Bolitho, S. J., **Grunstein, R. R.,** Naismith, S. L., **Melehan, K.**, & Lewis, S. J. (2014). Reply: unified techniques are needed to diagnose REM sleep behavior disorder. *Movement Disorders Journal*, 29(14), 1836.

Bolitho, S. J., Naismith, S. L., Rajaratnam, S. M., **Grunstein, R. R.**, Hodges, J. R., Terpening, Z., Rogers, N. & Lewis, S. J. (2014). Disturbances in melatonin secretion and circadian sleep-wake regulation in Parkinson disease. *Sleep Medicine*, 15(3), 342-347.

Bolitho, S. J., Naismith, S. L., Terpening, Z., **Grunstein**, **R. R., Melehan, K.**, **Yee, B. J.**, Coeytaux, A., Gilat, M. & Lewis, S. J. G. (2014). Investigating rapid eye movement sleep without atonia in Parkinson's disease using the rapid eye movement sleep behavior disorder screening questionnaire. *Movement Disorders*, 29(6), 736-742.

Boorsma, C. E., Dekkers, B. G., van Dijk, E. M., Kumawat, K., Richardson, **J., Burgess**, J. K., & John, A. E. (2014). Beyond TGFβ--novel ways to target airway and parenchymal fibrosis. *Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 29(2), 166-180.

**Booth, A. J., Djavadkhani, Y.**, & **Marshall, N. S.** (2014). A critical review of the treatment options available for obstructive sleep apnoea: an overview of the current literature available on treatment methods for obstructive sleep apnoea and future research directions. *Bioscience Horizons*, 7, 8.

**Bosnic-Anticevich, S. Z.**, Stuart, M., Mackson, J., **Cvetkovski, B.**, Sainsbury, E., **Armour, C.**, **Mavritsakis, S.**, Mendrela, G., Travers-Mason, P. & Williamson, M. (2014). Development and evaluation of an innovative model of inter-professional education focused on asthma medication use. *BMC Medical Education*, 14(1), 72.

Brew, B. K., Marks, G. B., Almqvist, C., Cistulli, P. A., Webb, K., & Marshall, N. S. (2014). Breastfeeding and snoring: a birth cohort study. *PLoS ONE*, 9(1), e84956.

Buchmann, N. A., Duke, D. J., Shakiba, S. A., Mitchell, D. M., Stewart, P. J., **Traini, D., Young, P. M.**, Lewis, D. A., Soria, J. & Honnery, D. (2014). A novel high-speed imaging technique to predict the macroscopic spray characteristics of solution based pressurised metered dose inhalers. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 31(11), 2963-2974.

**Burgess, J. K.**, & Gosens, R. (2014). Airway Smooth Muscle and Fibroblast Biology still a leading research focus for Young Investigators in the field. *Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 29(2), 91-92.

Burney, P., Jithoo, A., Kato, B., Janson, C., Mannino, D., Nizankowska-Mogilnicka, E., Buist, S. (2014). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease mortality and prevalence: the associations with smoking and poverty--a BOLD analysis. *Thorax*, 69(5), 465-473.

Burney, P., Kato, B., Janson, C., Mannino, D., Studnicka, M., Tan, W., **Marks, G.**, Buist, S. (2014). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease mortality and prevalence: the associations with smoking and poverty: a BOLD analysis--authors' reply. *Thorax*, 69(9), 869-870.

Chan, J. G., Bai, X., & Traini, D. (2014). An update on the use of rifapentine for tuberculosis therapy. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 11(3), 421-431.

Chan, J. G., Duke, C. C., Ong, H. X., Chan, J. C., Tyne, A. S., Chan, H. K., Britton, W. J., Young, P. M. & Traini, D. (2014). A novel inhalable form of rifapentine. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 103(5), 1411-1421.

**Chan, J. G.**, Tyne, A. S., Pang, A., Chan, H. K., **Young**, **P. M.**, Britton, W. J., Duke, C. C. & **Traini, D.** (2014). A rifapentine-containing inhaled triple antibiotic formulation for rapid treatment of tubercular infection. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 31(5), 1239-1253.

**Chan, J. G.**, Wong, J., Zhou, Q. T., Leung, S. S., & Chan, H. K. (2014). Advances in device and formulation technologies for pulmonary drug delivery. *AAPS PharmSciTech*, 15(4), 882-897.

**Chan, J. G.**, Wong, J., Chan, H. K., & **Traini, D.** (2014). An overview of biosimilars. *Journal and Proceedings of the Royal Society of New South Wales*, 147(451-452), 77-83.

Chapman, D. G., Pascoe, C. D., Lee-Gosselin, A., Couture, C., Seow, C. Y., Pare, P. D., Salome, C. M., King, G. G. & Bosse, Y. (2014). Smooth muscle in the maintenance of increased airway resistance elicited by methacholine in humans. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*190(8), 879-885.

**Chapman, D. G.,** Tully, J. E., Nolin, J. D., Jansen-Heininger, Y. M., & Irvin, C. G. (2014). Animal Models of Allergic Airways Disease: Where Are We and Where to Next? *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 115(12), 2055-2064. Chapman, J. L., Kempler, L., Chang, C. L., Williams, S. C., Sivam, S., Wong, K. K., Yee, B. J., Grunstein, R. R. & Marshall, N. S. (2014). Modafinil improves daytime sleepiness in patients with mild to moderate obstructive sleep apnoea not using standard treatments: a randomised placebo-controlled crossover trial. *Thorax*, 69(3), 274-279.

Che, W., Parmentier, J., Seidel, P., Manetsch, M., Ramsay, E. E., Alkhouri, H., **Ge, Q., Armour, C.** & Ammit, A. J. (2014). Corticosteroids Inhibit S1P-Induced IL-6 Secretion From Human Airway Smooth Muscle via MKP-1-Mediated Repression of MSK1. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology*, 50(2), 358-368.

Chen, L., **Ge, Q., Tjin, G.**, Alkhouri, H., Deng, L., Brandsma, C. A., Adcock, I., Timens, W., Postma, D., **Burgess, J. K., Black, J. L. & Oliver, B. G.** (2014). Effects of cigarette smoke extract on human airway smooth muscle cells in COPD. *European Respiratory Journal*, 44(3), 634-646.

**Chen, Y., Young, P. M.,** Fletcher, D. F., Chan, H. K., Long, E., Lewis, D., **Traini, D.** (2014). The influence of actuator materials and nozzle designs on electrostatic charge of pressurised metered dose inhaler (pMDI) formulations. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 31(5), 1325-1337.

Cheung, J. M., Atternas, K., Melchior, M., **Marshall, N. S.**, Fois, R. A., & Saini, B. (2014). Primary health care practitioner perspectives on the management of insomnia: a pilot study. *Australian Journal of Primary Health*, 20(1), 103-112.

Cheung, J. M., **Bartlett, D. J., Armour, C. L.**, Glozier, N., & Saini, B. (2014). Insomnia patients' help-seeking experiences. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 12(2), 106-122.

Cheung, M. M., **LeMay, K.**, Saini, B., & Smith, L. (2014). Does personality influence how people with asthma manage their condition? *Journal of Asthma*, 51(7), 729-736.

Crane, M. A., **Jenkins, C. R.**, Goeman, D. P., & Douglass, J. A. (2014). Inhaler device technique can be improved in older adults through tailored education: findings from a randomised controlled trial. *NPJ Primary Care Respiratory Medicine*, 24, 14034.

Crawford, M. R., Espie, C. A., **Bartlett, D. J., & Grunstein, R. R.** (2014). Integrating psychology and medicine in CPAP adherence--new concepts? *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 18(2), 123-139.

Custovic, A., & **Tovey, E.** (2014). Allergen Control for Prevention and Management of Allergic Diseases. In Adkinson NF, Bochner BS, Burks AW, Busse WW, Holgate ST, Lemanske, Jr. RF, & O'Hehir R (Eds.), *Middleton's Allergy Principles and Practice* (8th ed., Vol. 2, pp. 1406-1415): Saunders Elsevier, San Diego.



Dave, C., Turner, A., Thomas, A., Beauchamp, B., Chakraborty, B., Ali, A., **Banerjee, D.** (2014). Utility of respiratory ward-based NIV in acidotic hypercapnic respiratory failure. *Respirology*, 19(8), 1241-1247.

**Davis, S. R.**, Durvasula, S., Merhi, D., **Young, P. M.**, **Traini, D.**, & **Bosnic-Anticevich, S. Z.** (2014). Respiratory medication use in an Australian developmental disability clinic population: messages for health care professionals. *Australian Journal of Primary Health*, 20(3), 278-284.

Dempsey, J. A., Xie, A., Patz, D. S., & **Wang, D.** (2014). Physiology in Medicine: Obstructive sleep apnea pathogenesis and treatment—considerations beyond airway anatomy. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 116(1), 3-12.

Djukanovic, R., Harrison, T., Johnston, S. L., Gabbay, F., Wark, P., Thomson, N. C., **Reddel, H. K.**, Monk, P. (2014). The effect of inhaled IFN-β on worsening of asthma symptoms caused by viral infections. A randomized trial. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*190(2), 145-154.

Downey, G., Dalidowicz, M., & **Mason, P. H.** (2014). Apprenticeship as method: embodied learning in ethnographic practice. *Qualitative Research*, 15(2), 183-200.

Elaro, A., Shah, S., Pomare, L. N., Armour, C., & Bosnic-Anticevich, S. (2014). PACE: Pharmacists use the power of communication in paediatric asthma. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 36(5), 976-985.

Espie, C. A., Kyle, S. D., **Miller, C. B.**, Ong, J., Hames, P., & Fleming, L. (2014). Attribution, cognition and psychopathology in persistent insomnia disorder: outcome and mediation analysis from a randomized placebo-controlled trial of online cognitive behavioural therapy. *Sleep Medicine*, 15(8), 913-917.

Farah, C. S., & Reddel, H. (2014). Assessment of Asthma Control in Adults. In J. A. Bernstein & M. L. Levy (Eds.), *Clinical Asthma: Theory and Practice* (pp. 163-173): CRC Press, Florida.

Fathima, M., Peiris, D., Naik-Panvelkar, P., Saini, B., & Armour, C. L. (2014). Effectiveness of computerized clinical decision support systems for asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in primary care: a systematic review. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine*, 14, 189.

**Foster, J. M.**, Schokker, S., Sanderman, R., Postma, D. S., & van der Molen, T. (2014). Development of a brief questionnaire (ICQ-S) to monitor inhaled corticosteroid side-effects in clinical practice. *Allergy*, 69(3), 372-379.

Foster, J. M., Usherwood, T., Smith, L., Sawyer, S. M., Xuan, W., Rand, C. S., & Reddel, H. K. (2014). Inhaler reminders improve adherence with controller treatment in primary care patients with asthma. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 134(6), 1260-1268.e1263. **Fox, G. J., Marks, G.**, & Britton, W. J. (2014). Current transmission prevention methods: reducing disease spread from infected individuals. In J. P. Zellweger (Ed.), *Clinical Insights: Tuberculosis Prevention* (pp. 53-75): Future Medicine Ltd., London.

**Fox, G. J.**, Sy, D. N., Nhung, N. V., Yu, B., Ellis, M. K., Van Hung, N., **Marks, G. B.**, Britton, W. J. (2014). Polymorphisms of SP110 Are Associated with both Pulmonary and Extra-Pulmonary Tuberculosis among the Vietnamese. *PLoS ONE*, 9(7), e99496.

Fu, J. J., **Gibson, P. G.**, Simpson, J. L., & McDonald, V. M. (2014). Longitudinal changes in clinical outcomes in older patients with asthma, COPD and asthma-COPD overlap syndrome. *Respiration*, 87(1), 63-74.

Fu, J. J., McDonald, V. M., **Gibson, P. G.**, & Simpson, J. L. (2014). Systemic inflammation in older adults with asthma-COPD overlap syndrome. *Allergy, Asthma and Immunology Research,* 6(4), 316-324.

**Fuller, J. M., Wong, K. K., Grunstein, R.**, Krass, I., Patel, J., & **Saini, B.** (2014). A comparison of screening methods for Sleep Disorders in Australian community pharmacies: a randomized controlled trial. *PLoS ONE*, 9(6), e101003.

Gamble, A. L., D'Rozario, A. L., Bartlett, D. J., Williams, S., Bin, Y. S., Grunstein, R. R., & Marshall, N. S. (2014). Adolescent sleep patterns and night-time technology use: results of the Australian Broadcasting Corporation's Big Sleep Survey. *PLoS ONE*, 9(11), e111700.

Ghadiri, M., Chrzanowski, W., **Lee, W. H.**, & Rohanizadeh, R. (2014). Layered silicate clay functionalized with amino acids: Wound healing application. *RSC Advances*, 4(67), 35332-35343.

**Grafton, K. T., Moir, L. M., Black, J. L.**, Hansbro, N. G., Hansbro, P. M., **Burgess, J. K., & Oliver, B. G.** (2014). LF-15 & T7, synthetic peptides derived from tumstatin, attenuate aspects of airway remodelling in a murine model of chronic OVA-induced allergic airway disease. *PLoS ONE*, 9(1), e85655.

Gunawardhana, L. P., **Gibson, P. G.**, Simpson, J. L., Powell, H., & Baines, K. J. (2014). Activity and expression of histone acetylases and deacetylases in inflammatory phenotypes of asthma. *Clinical and Experimental Allergy*, 44(1), 47-57.

Gupta, R. P., Perez-Padilla, R., **Marks, G.**, Vollmer, W., Menezes, A., & Burney, P. (2014). Summarising published results from spirometric surveys of COPD: the problem of inconsistent definitions. *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 18(8), 998-1003. **Haghi, M.**, Bebawy, M., Colombo, P., Forbes, B., Lewis, D. A., **Salama, R., Traini, D. & Young, P. M.** (2014). Towards the bioequivalence of pressurised metered dose inhalers 2. Aerodynamically equivalent particles (with and without glycerol) exhibit different biopharmaceutical profiles in vitro. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 86(1), 38-45.

Haghi, M., Ong, H. X., Traini, D., & Young, P. M. (2014). Across the pulmonary epithelial barrier: Integration of physicochemical properties and human cell models to study pulmonary drug formulations. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 144(3), 235-252.

**Haghi, M., Traini, D., & Young, P.M.** (2014). In vitro cell integrated impactor deposition methodology for the study of aerodynamically relevant size fractions from commercial pressurised metered dose inhalers. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 31(7), 1779-1787.

Hamor, P., Yan, K., & **Reddel, H.** (2014a). Suggested management of patients presenting in general practice with asthma exacerbations. *Medicine Today*, 15(1), 10.

Hamor, P., Yan, K., & **Reddel, H.** (2014b). Worsening asthma in adults. Part 2: Assessment and management of asthma exacerbations. *Medicine Today*, 15(1), 18-27.

Hanes, C. A., Wong, K. K., & Saini, B. (2014a). Clinical services for obstructive sleep apnea patients in pharmacies: the Australian experience. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 36(2), 460-468.

Hanes, C. A., Wong, K. K., & Saini, B. (2014b). An overview of service quality of continuous positive airway pressure services in Australian pharmacies. *Respirology*, 19(1), 85-91.

Hanna, T., Bajorek, B., **Lemay, K., & Armour, C. L.** (2014). Using scenarios to test the appropriateness of pharmacist prescribing in asthma management. *Pharmacy Practice*, 12(1), 390.

Hansell, A. L., **Rose, N., Cowie, C. T., Belousova, E. G.,** Bakolis, I., Ng, K., **Toelle, B., Marks, G. B.** (2014). Weighted road density and allergic disease in children at high risk of developing asthma. *PLoS ONE*, 9(6), e98978.

Harkness, L. M., Kanabar, V., Sharma, H. S., Westergren-Thorsson, G., & Larsson-Callerfelt, A. K. (2014). Pulmonary vascular changes in asthma and COPD. *Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics,* 29(2), 144-155.

Herbert, C., **Zeng, Q. X.,** Shanmugasundaram, R., Garthwaite, L., **Oliver, B. G.**, & Kumar, R. K. (2014). Response of airway epithelial cells to double-stranded RNA in an allergic environment. *Translational Respiratory Medicine*, 2(1), 11. Hollier, C. A., Harmer, A. R., Maxwell, L. J., Menadue, C., Willson, G. N., **Unger, G., Piper, A. J.** (2014). Moderate concentrations of supplemental oxygen worsen hypercapnia in obesity hypoventilation syndrome: a randomised crossover study. *Thorax*, 69(4), 346-353.

Howard, M. E., Jackson, M. L., Swann, P., Berlowitz, D. J., **Grunstein, R. R.**, & Pierce, R. J. (2014). Deterioration in driving performance during sleep deprivation is similar in professional and nonprofessional drivers. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 15(2), 132-137.

**Hoyos, C. M., Killick, R.,** Keenan, D. M., Baxter, R. C., Veldhuis, J. D., & **Liu, P. Y.** (2014). Continuous positive airway pressure increases pulsatile growth hormone secretion and circulating insulin-like growth factor-1 in a time-dependent manner in men with obstructive sleep apnea: a randomized sham-controlled study. *Sleep*, 37(4), 733-741.

**Hoyos, C. M., Phillips, C. L.**, & **Grunstein, R. R.** (2014). From couch potato to gym junkie--CPAP may not be the answer. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 10(5), 473-474.

Iftikhar, I. H., Valentine, C. W., Bittencourt, L. R. A., Cohen, D. L., Fedson, A. C., Gíslason, T., **Phillips, C. L.**, Magalang, Y. J. (2014). Effects of Continuous Positive Airway Pressure on Blood Pressure in Patients with Resistant Hypertension and Obstructive Sleep Apnea: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Hypertension*, 32(12), 2341-2350.

Ivey, M. A., Johns, D. P., Stevenson, C., Maguire, G. P., **Toelle, B. G., Marks, G. B.,** Wood-Baker, R. (2014). Assessing the performance of two lung age equations on the Australian population: using data from the cross-sectional BOLD-Australia study. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, 16(12), 1629-1637.

Jaffar, J., Unger, S., Corte, T. J., Keller, M., Wolters, P. J., Richeldi, L., Oliver, B. G., Black, J. L., Burgess, J. K. (2014). Fibulin-1 predicts disease progression in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Chest*, 146(4), 1055-1063.

Jalaludin, B., & **Cowie, C.** (2014). Particulate air pollution and cardiovascular disease - it is time to take it seriously. *Reviews on Environmental Health*, 29(1-2), 129-132.

Kaminsky, D. A., Daud, A., & **Chapman, D. G.** (2014). Relationship between the baseline alveolar volumeto-total lung capacity ratio and airway responsiveness. *Respirology*, 19(7), 1046-1051.

Kong, M. L., **Armour, C., Lemay, K.,** & Smith, L. (2014). Information needs of people with asthma. *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice*, 22(3), 178-185.



Kyle, S. D., **Miller, C. B.**, Rogers, Z., Siriwardena, A. N., Macmahon, K. M., & Espie, C. A. (2014). Sleep restriction therapy for insomnia is associated with reduced objective total sleep time, increased daytime somnolence, and objectively impaired vigilance: implications for the clinical management of insomnia disorder. *Sleep*, 37(2), 229-237.

**Lee, W. H., Loo, C. Y.**, & Rohanizadeh, R. (2014). A review of chemical surface modification of bioceramics: effects on protein adsorption and cellular response. *Reviews on Environmental Health*, 122, 823-834.

Lee, W. H., Loo, C. Y., Young, P. M., Traini, D., Mason, R. S., & Rohanizadeh, R. (2014). Recent advances in curcumin nanoformulation for cancer therapy. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 11(8), 1183-1201.

**LeMay, K. S., Armour, C. L., & Reddel, H. K.** (2014). Performance of a brief asthma control screening tool in community pharmacy: a cross-sectional and prospective longitudinal analysis. *Primary Care Respiratory Journal,* 23(1), 79-84.

Leong, W. B., **Banerjee, D.**, Nolen, M., Adab, P., Thomas, G. N., & Taheri, S. (2014). Hypoxemia and glycemic control in type 2 diabetes mellitus with extreme obesity. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 99(9), E1650-1654.

Leong, W. B., Nolen, M., Thomas, G. N., Adab, P., **Banerjee, D.,** & Taheri, S. (2014). The impact of hypoxemia on nephropathy in extremely obese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine,* 10(7), 773-778.

Lewis, D. A., **Young, P. M.**, Buttini, F., Church, T., Colombo, P., Forbes, B., **Haghi, M.**, .. Salama, R., **Traini, D.** (2014). Towards the bioequivalence of pressurised metered dose inhalers 1: design and characterisation of aerodynamically equivalent beclomethasone dipropionate inhalers with and without glycerol as a non-volatile excipient. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 86(1), 31-37.

Li, J. J., Appleton, S. L., Wittert, G. A., **Vakulin, A.**, McEvoy, R. D., Antic, N. A., & Adams, R. J. (2014). The relationship between functional health literacy and obstructive sleep apnea and its related risk factors and comorbidities in a population cohort of men. *Sleep*, 37(3), 571-578.

Li, S., Baker, P. J., Jalaludin, B. B., Guo, Y., **Marks, G. B.**, Denison, L. S., & Williams, G. M. (2014a). Are childrens asthmatic symptoms related to ambient temperature? A panel study in Australia. *Environmental Research*, 133, 239-245.

Li, S., Baker, P. J., Jalaludin, B. B., Guo, Y., **Marks, G. B.**, Denison, L. S., & Williams, G. M. (2014b). An Australian national panel study of diurnal temperature range and children's respiratory health. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology*, 112(4), 348-353.e341-348. Li, S., Baker, P. J., Jalaludin, B. B., **Marks, G. B.**, Denison, L. S., & Williams, G. M. (2014). Ambient temperature and lung function in children with asthma in Australia. *European Respiratory Journal*, 43(4), 1059-1066.

Loo, C. Y., **Young, P. M.**, Cavaliere, R., Whitchurch, C. B., Lee, W. H., & Rohanizadeh, R. (2014). Silver nanoparticles enhance Pseudomonas aeruginosa PAO1 biofilm detachment. *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy*, 40(6), 719-729.

Loo, C. Y., **Young, P. M.**, Lee, W. H., Cavaliere, R., Whitchurch, C. B., & Rohanizadeh, R. (2014). Noncytotoxic silver nanoparticle-polyvinyl alcohol hydrogels with anti-biofilm activity: designed as coatings for endotracheal tube materials. *Biofouling*, 30(7), 773-788.

Loymans, R. J., Gemperli, A., Cohen, J., Rubinstein, S. M., Sterk, P. J., **Reddel, H. K.**, ter Riet, G. (2014). Comparative effectiveness of long term drug treatment strategies to prevent asthma exacerbations: network meta-analysis. *BMJ*, 348, g3009.

Maleszka, R., **Mason, P. H.**, & Barron, A. B. (2014). Epigenomics and the concept of degeneracy in biological systems. *Briefings in Functional Genomics*, 13(3), 191-202.

**Marks, G. B.**, & Billo, N. E. (2014). Chronic respiratory disease: the forgotten NCD? *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 18(11), 1261.

**Marshall, N. S., Wong, K. K.**, Cullen, S. R., Knuiman, M. W., & **Grunstein, R. R.** (2014). Sleep apnea and 20year follow-up for all-cause mortality, stroke, and cancer incidence and mortality in the Busselton health study cohort. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 10(4), 355-362.

**Mason, P. H.** (2014a). The Ailing City: Health, Tuberculosis, and Culture in Buenos Aires, 1870-1950. *Health and History*, 16(1), 126-127.

**Mason, P. H.** (2014b). Book Review: Free Market Tuberculosis: Managing Epidemics in Post-Soviet Georgia, Erin Koch. *Women's Studies*, 43(6), 852-855.

**Mason, P. H.** (2014c). Isabel Gillard, Circe's Island: A Young Woman's Memories of Tuberculosis Treatment in the 1950s. *Health and History*, 16(2), 167-168.

**Mason, P. H.** (2014d). The liminal body: comment on "Privacy in the context of 're-emergent' infectious diseases" by Justin T. Denholm and Ian H. Kerridge. *Journal of Bioethical Inquiry*, 11(4), 565-566.

Mason, P. H. (2014e). Spitting blood: the history of tuberculosis. *Anthropology & Medicine*, 21(3), 357-358.

**Mason, P. H.** (2014f). What Is Normal? A Historical Survey and Neuroanthropological Perspective. In J. Clausen & N. Levy (Eds.), *Handbook of Neuroethics* (pp. 343-363): Springer Netherlands.

McKinnon, A., Terpening, Z., Hickie, I. B., Batchelor, J., **Grunstein, R.**, Lewis, S. J. G., & Naismith, S. L. (2014). Prevalence and predictors of poor sleep quality in mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*, 27(3), 204-211.

Menadue, C., **Piper, A. J.**, van 't Hul, A. J., & **Wong, K. K.** (2014). Non-invasive ventilation during exercise training for people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 5, CD007714.

**Miller, C. B.**, Espie, C. A., Epstein, D. R., Friedman, L., Morin, C. M., Pigeon, W. R., Kyle, S. D. (2014). The evidence base of sleep restriction therapy for treating insomnia disorder. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 18(5), 415-424.

**Miller, C. B.**, Espie, C. A., & Kyle, S. D. (2014). Cognitive-behavioral therapy for the management of poor sleep in Insomnia Disorder: A review of the evidence. *ChronoPhysiology and Therapy*, 4, 99-107.

**Milne, S., & King, G. G.** (2014). Advanced imaging in COPD: insights into pulmonary pathophysiology. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 6(11), 1570-1585.

Moghe, R., My **Cheung, J., Saini, B., Marshall, N. S.,** & Williams, K. A. (2014). Consumers using the Internet for insomnia information: The who, what, and why. *Sleep and Biological Rhythms*, 12(4), 297-304.

Naqvi, H. A., Wang, D., Glozier, N., & Grunstein, R. R. (2014). Sleep-disordered breathing and psychiatric disorders. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 16(12), 519.

Ojo, O., Lagan, A. L., Rajendran, V., Spanjer, A., **Chen, L.**, Sohal, S. S., ... Hackett, T. L. (2014). Pathological changes in the COPD lung mesenchyme--novel lessons learned from in vitro and in vivo studies. *Pulmonary Pharmacology* & *Therapeutics*, 29(2), 121-128.

**Oliver, B. G., Robinson, P.**, Peters, M., & **Black, J.** (2014). Viral infections and asthma: an inflammatory interface? *European Respiratory Journal*, 44(6), 1666-1681.

**Ong, H., Traini, D., Ballerin, G., Morgan**, L., Buddle, L., Scalia, S., & **Young, P.** (2014). Combined Inhaled Salbutamol and Mannitol Therapy for Mucus Hypersecretion in Pulmonary Diseases. *AAPS Journal*, 16(2), 269-280.

**Ong, H. X.**, Benaouda, F., **Traini, D.**, Cipolla, D., Gonda, I., Bebawy, M., **Young, P. M.** (2014). In vitro and ex vivo methods predict the enhanced lung residence time of liposomal ciprofloxacin formulations for nebulisation. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 86(1), 83-89.

**Ooi, J.**, Gaisford, S., Boyd, B. J., **Young, P. M.**, & **Traini, D.** (2014). Isothermal calorimetry: a predictive tool to model drug-propellant interactions in pressurized metered dose systems. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 461(1-2), 301-309.

**Oreo, K. M., Gibson, P. G.,** Simpson, J. L., Wood, L. G., McDonald, V. M., & Baines, K. J. (2014). Sputum ADAM8 expression is increased in severe asthma and COPD. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy,* 44(3), 342-352.

Pallayova, M., **Banerjee**, **D.**, & Taheri, S. (2014). Novel insights into metabolic sequelae of obstructive sleep apnoea: a link between hypoxic stress and chronic diabetes complications. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 104(2), 197-205.

Pandit, C., Valentin, R., De Lima, J., **Robinson, P.**, Fitzgerald, D., Van Asperen, P., Selvadurai, H. (2014). Effect of general anesthesia on pulmonary function and clinical status on children with cystic fibrosis. *Paediatric Anaesthesia*, 24(2), 164-169.

Patel, M., Pilcher, J., **Reddel, H. K.**, Qi, V., Mackey, B., Tranquilino, T., Beasley, R. (2014). Predictors of severe exacerbations, poor asthma control, and beta-agonist overuse for patients with asthma. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice*, 2(6), 751-758.

**Piper, A. J.** (2014). Obesity hypoventilation Syndrome. In R. Watson (Ed.), *Modulation of sleep by obesity, diabetes, age and diet* (pp. 91-98): Academic Press, New York.

**Piper, A. J.** (2014). Obesity hypoventilation syndrome: The pressure for effective treatment. *Minerva Pneumologica*, 53(3), 105-117.

**Piper, A. J.**, Gonzalez-Bermejo, J., & Janssens, J. P. (2014). Sleep Hypoventilation. Diagnostic Considerations and Technological Limitations. *Sleep Medicine Clinics*, 9(3), 301-313.

**Piper, A. J., & Yee, B. J.** (2014). Hypoventilation syndromes. *Comprehensive Physiology,* 4(4), 1639-1676.

Postma, D. S., **Reddel, H. K.**, ten Hacken, N. H., & van den Berge, M. (2014). Asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: similarities and differences. *Clinics in Chest Medicine*, 35(1), 143-156.

**Postnova, S., Postnov, D. D.**, Seneviratne, M., & **Robinson, P. A.** (2014). Effects of rotation interval on sleepiness and circadian dynamics on forward rotating 3-shift systems. *Journal of Biological Rhythms*, 29(1), 60-70.

Pressman, M. R., Mahowald, M., Schenck, C., Bornemann, M. C., **Banerjee, D.**, Howell, **M., Buchanan, P.** & Avidan, A. (2014). Spectral EEG analysis and sleepwalking defense: unreliable scientific evidence. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 10(1), 111-112.



Quinn, D., **Seale, J. P.**, Reisner, C., Fischer, T., Golden, M., Fernandez, C., Orevillo, C. (2014). A randomized study of formoterol fumarate in a porous particle metered-dose inhaler in patients with moderate-to-severe COPD. *Respiratory Medicine*, 108(9), 1327-1335.

Rahman, M., **Cowie, C.**, Driscoll, T., Summerhayes, R., Armstrong, B., & Clements, M. (2014). Colon and rectal cancer incidence and water trihalomethane concentrations in New South Wales, Australia. *BMC Cancer*, 14(1), 445.

Rahman, M. M., Alkhouri, H., **Tang, F.**, Che, W., **Ge, Q.**, & Ammit, A. J. (2014). Sphingosine 1-phosphate induces neutrophil chemoattractant IL-8: repression by steroids. *PLoS ONE*, 9(3), e92466.

**Reddel, H. K., & Foster, J. M.** (2014). Inconclusive evidence about the efficacy of diverse strategies for intermittent versus daily inhaled corticosteroids for persistent asthma in adults and children. *Evidence-Based Medicine*, 19(1), e2.

**Reddel, H. K.**, Hurd, S. S., & FitzGerald, J. M. (2014). World Asthma Day. GINA 2014: a global asthma strategy for a global problem. *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 18(5), 505-506.

**Reddel, H. K.**, Jenkins, C. R., & Partridge, M. R. (2014). Self-management support and other alternatives to reduce the burden of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 18(12), 1396-1406.

**Robinson, P. D., Brown, N. J., Turner, M.**, Van Asperen, P., Selvadurai, H., & King, G. G. (2014). Increased dayto-day variability of forced oscillatory resistance in poorly controlled or persistent pediatric asthma. *Chest*, 146(4), 974-981.

Roche, N., **Reddel, H.,** Martin, R., Brusselle, G., Papi, A., Thomas, M., Price, D. (2014). Quality standards for realworld research. Focus on observational database studies of comparative effectiveness. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society*, 11 Suppl 2, S99-104.

Rose, A. R., Catcheside, P. G., McEvoy, R. D., Paul, D., Kapur, D., Peak, E., **Vakulin, A.** & Antic, N. A. (2014). Sleep Disordered breathing and chronic respiratory failure in patients with chronic pain on long term opioid therapy. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 10(8), 847-852.

Roth, T. N., Weber, K. P., Wettstein, V. G., **Marks, G. B.**, Rosengren, S. M., & Hegemann, S. C. (2014). Ethanol consumption impairs vestibulo-ocular reflex function measured by the video head impulse test and dynamic visual acuity. *Journal of Vestibular Research*, 24(4), 289-295. Saadat, A., **Zhu, B., Haghi, M.,** King, G., Colombo, G., **Young, P. M., & Traini, D.** (2014). The formulation, chemical and physical characterisation of clarithromycinbased macrolide solution pressurised metered dose inhaler. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 66(5), 639-645.

**Salama, R. O., Young, P. M.**, & **Traini, D.** (2014). Concurrent oral and inhalation drug delivery using a dual formulation system: the use of oral theophylline carrier with combined inhalable budesonide and terbutaline. *Drug Delivery and Translational Research*, 4(3), 256-267.

**Sercombe, J. K., Liu-Brennan, D.**, McKay, K. O., Green, B. J., & **Tovey, E. R.** (2014). Domestic exposure to fungal allergenic particles determined by halogen immunoassay using subject's serum versus particles carrying three non-fungal allergens determined by allergen-specific HIA. *Indoor Air*, 24(4), 438-445.

Shah, S., Roydhouse, J. K., **Toelle, B. G.**, Mellis, C. M., Jenkins, C. R., Edwards, P., & Sawyer, S. M. (2014). Recruiting and retaining general practitioners to a primary care asthma-intervention study in Australia. *Australian Journal of Primary Health*, 20(1), 98-102.

Shahbazi Niaz, M., **Traini, D., Young, P. M.**, Ghadiri, M., & Rohanizadeh, R. (2014). Investigation into physicalchemical variables affecting the manufacture and dissolution of wet-milled clarithromycin nanoparticles. *Pharmaceutical Development and Technology*, 19(8), 911-921.

Sigsgaard, T., & **Tovey, E.** (2014). Nasal filters: a novel approach to tackling allergic rhinitis. *Expert Review of Clinical Immunology*, 10(9), 1133-1135.

Simpson, J. L., Baines, K. J., Ryan, N., & **Gibson, P. G.** (2014). Neutrophilic asthma is characterised by increased rhinosinusitis with sleep disturbance and GERD. *Asian Pacific Journal of Allergy and Immunology*, 32(1), 66-74.

Simpson, J. L., Phipps, S., Baines, K. J., **Oreo, K. M.,** Gunawardhana, L., & **Gibson, P. G.** (2014). Elevated expression of the NLRP3 inflammasome in neutrophilic asthma. *European Respiratory Journal*, 43(4), 1067-1076.

Skilton, M. R., Sullivan, T. R., Ayer, J. G., Garden, F.
L., Harmer, J. A., Leeder, S. R., Toelle, B., Marks, G.
B., & Celermajer, D. S. (2014). Weight gain in infancy is associated with carotid extra-medial thickness in later childhood. *Atherosclerosis*, 233(2), 370-374.

Spann, K. M., Loh, Z., Lynch, J. P., **Ullah, A.**, Zhang, V., Baturcam, E., Phipps, S. (2014). IRF-3, IRF-7, and IPS-1 promote host defense against acute human metapneumovirus infection in neonatal mice. *American Journal of Pathology*, 184(6), 1795-1806.

Stevenson, M. R., Elkington, J., Sharwood, L., Meuleners, L., Ivers, R., Boufous, S., ... **Grunstein, R. R.**, ... **Wong, K.** (2014). The role of sleepiness, Sleep Disordersers, and the work environment on heavy-vehicle crashes in 2 Australian States. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 179(5), 594-601.

Sutherland, K., Phillips, C. L., Davies, A., Srinivasan, V. K., Dalci, O., Yee, B. J., ... Grunstein, R. R. & Cistulli, P. A. (2014). CPAP Pressure for Prediction of Oral Appliance Treatment Response in Obstructive Sleep Apnea. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 10(9), 943-949.

**Sutherland, K.**, Schwab, R. J., Maislin, G., Lee, R. W., Benedikstdsottir, B., Pack, A. I., **Cistulli, P. A.** (2014). Facial phenotyping by quantitative photography reflects craniofacial morphology measured on magnetic resonance imaging in icelandic sleep apnea patients. *Sleep*, 37(5), 959-968.

**Sutherland, K.**, Vanderveken, O. M., Tsuda, H., Marklund, M., Gagnadoux, F., Kushida, C. A., & **Cistulli, P. A.** (2014). Oral appliance treatment for obstructive sleep apnea: an update. Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, 10(2), 215-227.

Timmins, S. C., Diba, C., Schoeffel, R. E., Salome, C. M., King, G. G., & Thamrin, C. (2014). Changes in oscillatory impedance and nitrogen washout with combination fluticasone/salmeterol therapy in COPD. *Respiratory Medicine*, 108(2), 344-350.

**Tjin, G.**, Xu, P., Kable, S. H., Kable, E. P., & **Burgess, J. K.** (2014). Quantification of collagen I in airway tissues using second harmonic generation. *Journal of Biomedical Optics*, 19(3), 36005.

**Toumas-Shehata, M.**, Price, D., Basheti, I. A., & **Bosnic-Anticevich, S.** (2014). Exploring the role of quantitative feedback in inhaler technique education: a clusterrandomised, two-arm, parallel-group, repeated-measures study. *NPJ Primary Care Respiratory Medicine*, 24, 14071.

Troy, L., Hamor, P., Bleasel, J., & **Corte, T.** (2014). Two simultaneous autoimmune processes in a patient presenting with respiratory insufficiency. *Respirology Case Reports*, 2(1), 21-23.

Tulbah, A. S., Ong, H. X., Colombo, P., Young, P. M., & Traini, D. (2014). Novel simvastatin inhalation formulation and characterisation. *AAPS PharmSciTech*, 15(4), 956-962.

**Ullah, M. A.,** Loh, Z., Gan, W. J., Zhang, V., Yang, H., Li, J. H., ... **Armour, C. L., Hughes, J. M.**, ... **Sukkar, M. B.** (2014). Receptor for advanced glycation end products and its ligand high-mobility group box-1 mediate allergic airway sensitization and airway inflammation. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 134(2), 440-450.

Um, I. S., **Armour, C.**, Krass, I., Gill, T., & Chaar, B. B. (2014). Consumer perspectives about weight management services in a community pharmacy setting in NSW, Australia. *Health Expectations*, 17(4), 579-592.

**Vakulin, A.**, Catcheside, P. G., Baulk, S. D., Antic, N. A., Banks, S., Dorrian, J., & McEvoy, R. D. (2014). Individual variability and predictors of driving simulator impairment in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 10(6), 647-655.

Van Der Wiel, E., Ten Hacken, N. H. T., Van Den Berge, M., Timens, W., **Reddel, H. K.**, & Postma, D. S. (2014b). Eosinophilic inflammation in subjects with mild-to-moderate asthma with and without obesity: Disparity between sputum and biopsies. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 189(10), 1281-1284.

Wang, D., & Grunstein, R. R. (2014). Clinical Implications of the CrossTalk Opposing Views. *J Physiol*, 00(00), 1-4.

Wang, D., Piper, A. J., Yee, B. J., Wong, K. K., Kim, J. W., D'Rozario, A., Rowsell, L., Dijk, D. J. & Grunstein, R. R. (2014). Hypercapnia is a key correlate of EEG activation and daytime sleepiness in hypercapnic Sleep Disordersered breathing patients. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 10(5), 517-522.

Wang, D., Rowsell, L., & Yee, B. J. (2014). Positive airway pressure treatment for opioid-related central sleep apnea, where are we now? *Sleep and Breathing*, 18(2), 229-231.

Weber-Chrysochoou, C., Crisafulli, D., Kemp, A. S., Britton, W. J., & **Marks, G. B.** (2014). Allergen-specific IL-5 responses in early childhood predict asthma at age eight. *PLoS ONE*, 9(5), e97995.

Wilson, G., Terpening, Z., **Wong, K., Grunstein, R.**, Norrie, L., Lewis, S. J., & Naismith, S. L. (2014). Screening for sleep apnoea in mild cognitive impairment: the utility of the multivariable apnoea prediction index. *Sleep Disorders*, 2014, 945287.

Wong, K. K., Yee, B. J., & Grunstein, R. R. (2014). Obstructive sleep apnoea: does one treatment not fit all? *Lancet Respiratory Medicine*, 2(12), 968-970.

**Young, P. M.,** Crapper, J., Philips, G., **Sharma, K.**, Chan, H. K., & **Traini, D.** (2014). Overcoming dose limitations using the orbital((R)) multi-breath dry powder inhaler. *Journal of Aerosol Medicine*, 27(2), 138-147.

Zhang, X. Y., Simpson, J. L., Powell, H., Yang, I. A., Upham, J. W., Reynolds, P. N., . . . **Gibson, P. G.** (2014). Full blood count parameters for the detection of asthma inflammatory phenotypes. *Clinical and Experimental Allergy*, 44(9), 1137-1145.



Zhao, M., Barber, T., **Cistulli, P., Sutherland, K.**, & Rosengarten, G. (2014). Using Two-Way Fluid-Structure Interaction to Study the Collapse of the Upper Airway of OSA Patients. *Applied Mechanics and Materials*, 553, 6.

Zhou, Q. T., Tang, P., Leung, S. S., **Chan, J. G.**, & Chan, H. K. (2014). Emerging inhalation aerosol devices and strategies: where are we headed? *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 75, 3-17.

**Zhu, B., Traini, D.**, Lewis, D. A., & **Young, P.** (2014). The solid-state and morphological characteristics of particles generated from solution-based metered dose inhalers: Influence of ethanol concentration and intrinsic drug properties. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 443, 345-355.

**Zhu, B., Traini, D., & Young, P.** (2014). Aerosol particle generation from solution-based pressurized metered dose inhalers: a technical overview of parameters that influence respiratory deposition. *Pharmaceutical Development and Technology*, 1-14.

Zimmermann, S. C., Farah, C. S., & King, G. G. (2014). Early COPD: How to identify it and is it worth treating? *Medicine Today*, 15(1), 34-38.

#### 2015

Ahmed, R. M., **Newcombe, R. E., Piper, A. J.,** Lewis, S. J., **Yee, B. J.,** Kiernan, M. C., & **Grunstein, R. R.** (2015). Sleep disorders and respiratory function in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 26, 33-42.

Allsop, D. J., **Bartlett, D. J.**, Johnston, J., Helliwell, D., Winstock, A., McGregor, I. S., & Lintzeris, N. (2015). The Effects of Lithium Carbonate Supplemented with Nitrazepam on Sleep Disturbance during Cannabis Abstinence. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 11(10), 1153-1162.

Amaral, A. F. S., Coton, S., Kato, B., Tan, W. C., Studnicka, M., Janson, C., .... **Marks, G., Bird, T.,** ... **Toelle, B.**, .... Islam, M. (2015). Tuberculosis associates with both airflow obstruction and low lung function: BOLD results. *European Respiratory Journal*, 46(4), 1104-1112.

Antic, N. A., Heeley, E., Anderson, C. S., Luo, Y., Wang, J., Neal, B., **Grunstein, R. R.**, .... McEvoy, R. D. (2015). The Sleep Apnea cardiovascular Endpoints (SAVE) trial: Rationale, ethics, design, and progress. *Sleep*, 38(8), 1247-1257.

Appleton, S. L., **Vakulin, A.**, McEvoy, R. D., Vincent, A., Martin, S. A., Grant, J. F., Adams, R. J. (2015). Undiagnosed obstructive sleep apnea is independently associated with reductions in quality of life in middle-aged, but not elderly men of a population cohort. *Sleep Breath*, 19(4), 1309-1316. Appleton, S. L., **Vakulin, A.,** McEvoy, R. D., Wittert, G. A., Martin, S. A., Grant, J. F., Adams, R. J. (2015). Nocturnal Hypoxemia and Severe Obstructive Sleep Apnea are Associated with Incident Type 2 Diabetes in a Population Cohort of Men. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 11(6), 609-614.

Arora, S., **Haghi, M., Loo, C. Y., Traini, D., Young, P. M.**, & Jain, S. (2015). Development of an inhaled controlled release voriconazole dry powder formulation for the treatment of respiratory fungal infection. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 12(6), 2001-2009.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare: Correll P.K., **Poulos L.M., Ampon R., Reddel H.K.** & **Marks G.B.** (2015). Respiratory medication use in Australia 2003– 2013: treatment of asthma and COPD. Cat. no. ACM 31. Canberra: AIHW.

Bajorek, B., **LeMay, K.,** Gunn, K., & **Armour, C.** (2015). The potential role for a pharmacist in a multidisciplinary general practitioner super clinic. *Australasian Medical Journal*, 8(2), 52-63.

Bajorek, B. V., **Lemay, K. S.**, Magin, P. J., Roberts, C., Krass, I., & **Armour, C. L.** (2015). Preparing pharmacists to deliver a targeted service in hypertension management: evaluation of an interprofessional training program. *BMC Medical Education*, 15(1), 157.

Basheti, I. A., Natsheh, A. I., Ammari, W. G., Khater, S., Qunaibi, E. A., & **Bosnic-Anticevich**, **S.** (2015). Education on Correct Inhaler Technique in Pharmacy Schools: Barriers and Needs. *Tropical Journal of Pharmaceutical Research*, 14(4), 715-722.

Bateman, E. D., Buhl, R., O'Byrne, P. M., Humbert, M., **Reddel, H. K.**, Sears, M. R., **Jenkins, C.**, ... Eriksson, G. (2015). Development and validation of a novel risk score for asthma exacerbations: The risk score for exacerbations. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 135(6), 1457-1464.e1454.

Bateman, E. D., **Reddel, H. K.**, van Zyl-Smit, R. N., & Agusti, A. (2015). The asthma-COPD overlap syndrome: towards a revised taxonomy of chronic airways diseases? *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*, 3(9), 719-728.

Beasley, R., Chien, J., Douglas, J., Eastlake, L., **Farah, C., King, G.,** Walters, H. (2015). Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand oxygen guidelines for acute oxygen use in adults: 'Swimming between the flags'. *Respirology*, 20(8), 1182-1191.

Begun, M., Newall, A. T., **Marks, G. B.**, & Wood, J. G. (2015). Revisiting Styblo's law: could mathematical models aid in estimating incidence from prevalence data? *Epidemiology & Infection,* 143(7), 1556-1565.

Bolitho, S. J., Naismith, S. L., Terpening, Z., **Grunstein, R. R., Melehan, K., Yee, B. J., Coeytaux, A.** & Lewis, S. J. (2015). Investigating the night-to-night variability of REM without atonia in Parkinson's disease. *Sleep Medicine*, 16(1), 190-193.

Boulet, L. P., FitzGerald, J. M., & **Reddel, H. K.** (2015). The revised 2014 GINA strategy report: opportunities for change. *Current Opinion in Pulmonary Medicine*, 21(1), 1-7.

Bousquet, J., Schunemann, H. J., Fonseca, J., Samolinski, B., Bachert, C., Canonica, G. W., ..... Mercier, J. (2015). MACVIA-ARIA Sentinel Network for allergic rhinitis (MASK-rhinitis): The new generation guideline implementation. *Allergy*, 70(11), 1372-1392.

**Brew, B. K., Toelle, B. G.**, Webb, K. L., Almqvist, C., & **Marks, G. B.** (2015). Omega-3 supplementation during the first 5 years of life and later academic performance: a randomised controlled trial. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 69(4), 419-424.

**Byrne, A. L.**, Marais, B. J., Mitnick, C. D., Lecca, L., & **Marks, G. B.** (2015a). Risk factors for and origins of COPD. *Lancet*, 385(9979), 1723-1724.

Byrne, A. L., Marais, B. J., Mitnick, C. D., Lecca, L., & Marks, G. B. (2015b). Tuberculosis and chronic respiratory disease: a systematic review. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 32, 138-146.

Cain, S. W., Filtness, A. J., **Phillips, C. L.**, & Anderson, C. (2015). Enhanced preference for high-fat foods following a simulated night shift. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 41(3), 288-293.

Chan, A. H., Harrison, J., Black, P. N., Mitchell, E. A., & **Foster, J. M.** (2015). Using Electronic Monitoring Devices to Measure Inhaler Adherence: A Practical Guide for Clinicians. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology Practice*, 3(3), 335-349.

**Chan, J. G.**, Tyne, A. S., Pang, A., McLachlan, A. J., Perera, V., Chan, J. C., Duke, C. C., **Young, P. M.** & **Traini, D.** (2015). Murine pharmacokinetics of rifapentine delivered as an inhalable dry powder. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 45(3), 319-323.

**Chapman, D. G.**, & Irvin, C. G. (2015). Mechanisms of airway hyper-responsiveness in asthma: the past, present and yet to come. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, 45(4), 706-719.

**Chen, Y., Young, P. M.**, Fletcher, D. F., Chan, H. K., Long, E., Lewis, D., ... **Traini, D.** (2015a). The Effect of Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients on Aerosol Electrostatic Charges from Pressurized Metered Dose Inhalers. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 32(9), 9. **Chen, Y., Young, P. M.**, Fletcher, D. F., Chan, H. K., Long, E., Lewis, D., .. **Traini, D.** (2015b). The effect of actuator nozzle designs on the electrostatic charge generated in pressurised metered dose inhaler aerosols. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 32(4), 1237-1248.

Cheong, L. H., **Armour, C. L.**, & **Bosnic-Anticevich, S. Z.** (2015). Patient asthma networks: Understanding who is important and why. *Health Expectations*, 18(6), 11.

Cheung, J. M. Y., **Bartlett, D. J., Armour, C. L.**, & Saini, B. (2015). Treating Insomnia: A Review of Patient Perceptions Toward Treatment. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 00:1-32.

Cooksley, N. A. J. B., Atkinson, D., **Marks, G. B., Toelle, B. G.**, Reeve, D., Johns, D. P., Maguire, G. P. (2015). Prevalence of airflow obstruction and reduced forced vital capacity in an Aboriginal Australian population: The crosssectional BOLD study. *Respirology*, 20(5), 766-774.

D'Amato, G., Holgate, S. T., Pawankar, R., Ledford, D. K., Cecchi, L., Al-Ahmad, M., ... **Marks, G. B.**, ... Annesi-Maesano, I. (2015). Meteorological conditions, climate change, new emerging factors, and asthma and related allergic disorders. A statement of the World Allergy Organization. *World Allergy Organization Journal*, 8(1), 25.

D'Rozario, A. L., Dungan, G. C., II, Banks, S., Liu, P. Y., Wong, K. K. H., Killick, R., Grunstein, R. R. & Kim, J. W. (2015). An automated algorithm to identify and reject artefacts for quantitative EEG analysis during sleep in patients with sleep-disordered breathing. *Sleep and Breathing*, 19(2), 607-615.

**Dame Carroll, J. R.,** Magnussen, J. S., **Berend, N., Salome, C. M., & King, G. G.** (2015). Greater parallel heterogeneity of airway narrowing and airway closure in asthma measured by high-resolution CT. *Thorax,* 70(12), 1163-1170.

Davis, S. R., Durvasula, S., Merhi, D., Young, P. M., Traini, D., & Bosnic-Anticevich, S. Z. (2015). The role of direct support professionals in asthma management. *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability*, 40(4), 342-353.

Davis, S. R., Young, P. M., Traini, D., & Bosnic-Anticevich, S. Z. (2015). Unique location but similar issues: Working with health professionals in correctional services to improve inhaler use. *Journal of Pharmacy Practice and Research*, 45(3), 276-281.

Djavadkhani, Y., Marshall, N. S., D'Rozario, A. L., Crawford, M. R., Yee, B. J., Grunstein, R. R., & Phillips, C. L. (2015). Ethics, consent and blinding: lessons from a placebo/sham controlled CPAP crossover trial. *Thorax*, 70(3), 265-269.



**Dobler, C. C.** (2015). Biological agents and tuberculosis: risk estimates and screening strategies. *International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases*, 18(3), 264-267.

**Dobler, C. C.,** Korver, S., Batbayar, O., Nyamdulam, B., Oyuntsetseg, S., Tsolmon, B., Marais, B. J. (2015). Multidrug-Resistant Tuberculosis in Patients for Whom First-Line Treatment Failed, Mongolia, 2010-2011. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 21(8), 1451-1454.

**Dobler, C. C.,** Martin, A., & **Marks, G. B.** (2015). Benefit of treatment of latent tuberculosis infection in individual patients. *European Respiratory Journal*, 46(5), 1397-1406.

Dwyer, T. J., Robbins, L., Kelly, P., **Piper, A. J.**, Bell, S. C., & Bye, P. T. (2015a). Non-invasive ventilation used as an adjunct to airway clearance treatments improves lung function during an acute exacerbation of cystic fibrosis: a randomised trial. *Journal of Physiotherapy*, 61(3), 142-147.

Elaro, A., Shah, S., Armour, C. L., & Bosnic-Anticevich, S. (2015). A snapshot of pharmacist attitudes and behaviors surrounding the management of pediatric asthma. *Journal of Asthma*, 52(9), 957-968.

**Ezz, W. N.**, Mazaheri, M., **Robinson, P.**, Johnson, G. R., Clifford, S., He, C., ... **Marks, G. B.** (2015). Ultrafine Particles from Traffic Emissions and Children's Health (UPTECH) in Brisbane, Queensland (Australia): study design and implementation. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 12(2), 1687-1702.

Farah, C. S., Keulers, L. A., Hardaker, K. M., Peters, M. J., Berend, N., Postma, D. S., Salome, C. M. & King, G. G. (2015). Association between peripheral airway function and neutrophilic inflammation in asthma. *Respirology*, 20(6), 975-981.

Forouzanfar, M. H., Alexander, L., Anderson, H. R., Bachman, V. F., Biryukov, S., Brauer, M., ..... **Marks, G. B.**, .....Murray, C. J. (2015). Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks in 188 countries, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *The Lancet*, 386(10010), 2287-2323.

**Foster, J. M.**, Sawyer, S. M., Smith, L., **Reddel, H. K.**, & Usherwood, T. (2015). Barriers and facilitators to patient recruitment to a cluster randomized controlled trial in primary care: lessons for future trials. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 15(1), 18.

**Foster, J. M.**, Smith, L., Usherwood, T., Sawyer, S. M., & **Reddel, H. K.** (2015). General practitioner-delivered adherence counseling in asthma: feasibility and usefulness of skills, training and support tools. *Journal of Asthma*, 1-24.

Fox, G. J., Loan le, P., Nhung, N. V., Loi, N. T., Sy, D. N., Britton, W. J., & Marks, G. B. (2015). Barriers to adherence with tuberculosis contact investigation in six provinces of Vietnam: a nested case-control study. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 15, 103.

Fuller, J. M., **Wong, K. K., Hoyos, C.,** Krass, I., & Saini, B. (2015). Dispensing good sleep health behaviours not pills - a cluster-randomized controlled trial to test the feasibility and efficacy of pharmacist-provided brief behavioural treatment for insomnia. *Journal of Sleep Research*. 25(1), 104-115.

Gao, P., **Gibson, P. G.**, Baines, K. J., Yang, I. A., Upham, J. W., Reynolds, P. N., Simpson, J. L. (2015). Antiinflammatory deficiencies in neutrophilic asthma: reduced galectin-3 and IL-1RA/IL-1β. *Respiratory Research*, 16(1), 5.

Ge, Q., Chen, L., Jaffar, J., Argraves, W. S., Twal, W.
O., Hansbro, P., Black, J. L., Burgess, J. K. & Oliver,
B. (2015). Fibulin1C peptide induces cell attachment and extracellular matrix deposition in lung fibroblasts. *Scientific Reports*, 5, 9496.

Ge, Q., Zeng, Q., Tjin, G., Lau, E., Black, J. L., Oliver, B. G. G., & Burgess, J. K. (2015b). Differential deposition of fibronectin by asthmatic bronchial epithelial cells. *American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, 309(10), L1093-L1102.

Getahun, H., Matteelli, A., Abubakar, I., Aziz, M. A., Baddeley, A., Barreira, D., .... **Marks, G.**, ..... Raviglione, M. (2015). Management of latent Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection: WHO guidelines for low tuberculosis burden countries. *European Respiratory Journal*, 46(6), 1563-1576.

Haghi, M., Hittinger, M., Zeng, Q., Oliver, B., Traini, D., Young, P. M., .... Lehr, C. M. (2015). Mono- and Cocultures of Bronchial and Alveolar Epithelial Cells Respond Differently to Proinflammatory Stimuli and their Modulation by Salbutamol and Budesonide. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 12(8), 2652-2632.

Haghi, M., Saadat, A., Zhu, B., Colombo, G., King, G., Young, P. M., & Traini, D. (2015). Immunomodulatory effects of a low-dose clarithromycin-based macrolide solution pressurised metered dose inhaler. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 32(6), 2144-2153.

Haghi, M., van den Oetelaar, W., Moir, L. M., Zhu, B., Phillips, G., Crapper, J., Young, P. M. & Traini, D. (2015). Inhalable tranexamic acid for haemoptysis treatment. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 93, 311-319. Hanes, C. A., Wong, K. K., & Saini, B. (2015). Consolidating innovative practice models: The case for obstructive sleep apnea services in Australian pharmacies. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 11(3), 412-427.

Harkness, L. M., Ashton, A. W., & Burgess, J. K. (2015). Asthma is not only an airway disease, but also a vascular disease. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 148, 17-33.

Herbert, C., Sebesfi, M., **Zeng, Q. X., Oliver, B. G.,** Foster, P. S., & Kumar, R. K. (2015). Using multiple online databases to help identify microRNAs regulating the airway epithelial cell response to a virus-like stimulus. *Respirology*, 20(8), 1206-1212.

Ho, J., Marks, G. B., & Fox, G. J. (2015). The impact of sputum quality on tuberculosis diagnosis: a systematic review. *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 19(5), 537-544.

Hoang, T. T., Nguyen, N. V., Dinh, S. N., Nguyen, H. B., Cobelens, F., Thwaites, G., ... **Nguyen, A. T.**, ... Wertheim, H. F. (2015). Challenges in detection and treatment of multidrug resistant tuberculosis patients in Vietnam. *BMC Public Health*, 15(1), 980.

Hoyos, C. M., Melehan, K. L., Liu, P. Y., Grunstein, R. R., & Phillips, C. L. (2015). Does obstructive sleep apnea cause endothelial dysfunction? A critical review of the literature. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 20, 15-26.

Hoyos, C. M., Melehan, K. L., Phillips, C. L., Grunstein, R. R., & Liu, P. Y. (2015). To ED or not to ED - Is erectile dysfunction in obstructive sleep apnea related to endothelial dysfunction? *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 20, 5-14.

Hoyos, C. M., Yee, B. J., Wong, K. K., Grunstein, R. R., & Phillips, C. L. (2015). Treatment of sleep apnea with CPAP lowers central and peripheral blood pressure independent of the time-of-day: A randomized controlled study. *American Journal of Hypertension*, 28(10), 1222-1228.

Huynh, B. K., Chen, Y., Fletcher, D. F., Young, P., Zhu, B., & Traini, D. (2015). An Investigation into the Powder Release Behavior from Capsule-Based Dry Powder Inhalers. *Aerosol Science and Technology*, 49(10), 902-911.

Iftikhar, I. H., **Hoyos, C. M., Phillips, C. L.**, & Magalang, U. J. (2015). Meta-analyses of the Association of Sleep Apnea with Insulin Resistance, and the Effects of CPAP on HOMA-IR, Adiponectin, and Visceral Adipose Fat. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 11(4), 475-485. Jetmalani, K., Timmins, S., Brown, N. J., Diba, C., Berend, N., Salome, C. M., ... King, G. G. & Farah, C. S. (2015). Expiratory flow limitation relates to symptoms during COPD exacerbations requiring hospital admission. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 10, 939-945.

**Kempler, L.**, Sharpe, L., **Miller, C. B.**, & **Bartlett, D. J.** (2015). Do psychosocial sleep interventions improve infant sleep or maternal mood in the postnatal period? A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Sleep Medicine Reviews, 29, 15-22.

Kidd, T. J., Magalhães, R. J. S., Paynter, S., Bell, S. C., Grimwood, K., Armstrong, D. S., .... **Marks, G. B.**, ..... Wilson, J. W. (2015). The social network of cystic fibrosis centre care and shared Pseudomonas aeruginosa strain infection: A cross-sectional analysis. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*, 3(8), 640-650.

Killick, R., Hoyos, C. M., Melehan, K. L., Dungan, G. C., Poh, J., & Liu, P. Y. (2015). Metabolic and hormonal effects of 'catch-up' sleep in men with chronic, repetitive, lifestyle-driven sleep restriction. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 83(4), 498-507.

**Kritikos, V. S.**, Saini, B., Carter, S., Moles, R. J., & Krass, I. (2015). Factors influencing pharmacy students' attitudes towards pharmacy practice research and strategies for promoting research interest in pharmacy practice. *Pharmacy Practice.* 13(3), 587.

Kyle, S. D., Aquino, M. R., **Miller, C. B.**, Henry, A. L., Crawford, M. R., Espie, C. A., & Spielman, A. J. (2015). Towards standardisation and improved understanding of sleep restriction therapy for insomnia disorder: A systematic examination of CBT-I trial content. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 23, 83-88.

Lee, W. H., Loo, C. Y., Chrzanowski, W., & Rohanizadeh, R. (2015). Osteoblast response to the surface of amino acid-functionalized hydroxyapatite. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 103(6), 2150-2160.

Lee, W. H., Loo, C. Y., Traini, D., & Young, P. M. (2015a). Inhalation of nanoparticle-based drug for lung cancer treatment: Advantages and challenges. *Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 10(6), 481-489.

Lee, W. H., Loo, C. Y., Traini, D., & Young, P. M. (2015b). Nano- and micro-based inhaled drug delivery systems for targeting alveolar macrophages. Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery, 12(6), 1009-1026.

Lei Burton, D., **LeMay, K. S.**, Saini, B., Smith, L., **Bosnic-Anticevich, S.**, Southwell, P., Cooke, J., Emmerton, L., Stewart, K., Krass, I., **Reddel, H. & Armour, C.** (2015). The reliability and utility of spirometry performed on people with asthma in community pharmacies. *Journal of Asthma*, 52(9), 913-919.



**LeMay, K. S.**, Saini, B., **Bosnic-Anticevich, S.**, Smith, L., Stewart, K., Emmerton, L. & **Armour, C. L.** (2015). An exploration of clinical interventions provided by pharmacists within a complex asthma service. *Pharmacy Practice*, 13(1), 529.

Loo, C. Y., Lee, W. H., Young, P. M., Cavaliere, R., Whitchurch, C. B., & Rohanizadeh, R. (2015). Implications and emerging control strategies for ventilator-associated infections. *Expert Review of Anti-Infective Therapy*, 13(3), 379-393.

Ly, D. V., & **Oliver, B. G. G.** (2015). Do we really need to keep redesigning  $\beta$ 2-agonists for the management of asthma? *Current Drug Delivery*, 12(1), 9-15.

Maher, T. M., **Piper, A.,** Song, Y., Restrepo, M. I., & Eves, N. D. (2015). Year in review 2014: Interstitial lung disease, physiology, sleep and ventilation, acute respiratory distress syndrome, cystic fibrosis, bronchiectasis and rare lung disease. *Respirology*, 20(5), 834-845.

Make, B. J., Eriksson, G., Calverley, P. M., **Jenkins, C. R.**, Postma, D. S., Peterson, S., Anzueto, A. (2015). A score to predict short-term risk of COPD exacerbations (SCOPEX). *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 10, 201-209.

Marenholz, I., Esparza-Gordillo, J., Ruschendorf, F., Bauerfeind, A., Strachan, D. P., Spycher, B. D., ..... **Marks, G. B.**, .....Lee, Y. A. (2015). Meta-analysis identifies seven susceptibility loci involved in the atopic march. *Nature Communications*, 6, 8804.

**Marks, G. B.** (2015). World Asthma Day, 5 May 2015. *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 19(5), 501.

**Marshall, N. S., & Cowie, C. T.** (2015). Completely scoobied: the confusing world of temperature and pollution effects on sleep apnoea. *European Respiratory Journal,* 46(5), 1251-1254.

**Mason, P. H.** (2015). Degeneracy: Demystifying and destigmatizing a core concept in systems biology. *Complexity*, 20(3), 12-21.

**Mason, P. H.**, Degeling, C., & Denholm, J. (2015). Sociocultural dimensions of tuberculosis: an overview of key concepts. *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 19(10), 1135-1143.

**Mason, P. H.,** Dominguez, D. J., Winter, B., & Grignolio, A. (2015). Hidden in plain view: degeneracy in complex systems. *Biosystems*, 128, 1-8.

Miller, C. B., Gordon, C. J., Toubia, L., Bartlett, D. J., Grunstein, R. R., D'Rozario, A. L., & Marshall, N. S. (2015). Agreement between simple questions about sleep duration and sleep diaries in a large online survey. *Sleep Health*, 1(2), 133-137. Miller, C. B., Kyle, S. D., Gordon, C. J., Espie, C. A., Grunstein, R. R., Mullins, A. E., ... Bartlett, D. J. (2015). Physiological Markers of Arousal Change with Psychological Treatment for Insomnia: A Preliminary Investigation. *PLoS ONE*, 10(12), e0145317.

Miller, C. B., Kyle, S. D., Melehan, K. L., & Bartlett, D. J. (2015). Methodology for the assessment of sleep. In K. A. Babson & M. T. Feldner (Eds.), *Sleep and affect: Assessment, Theory, and Clinical Implications* (pp. 65-90): Academic Press Inc., San Diego.

Milne, S., & King, G. G. (2015). Role of imaging in COPD phenotyping. *Respirology*, 20(4), 522-523.

Naik-Panvelkar, P., Saini, B., LeMay, K. S., Emmerton, L. M., Stewart, K., Burton, D. L. Bosnic-Anticevich, S. Z., ... Armour, C. L. (2015). A pharmacy asthma service achieves a change in patient responses from increased awareness to taking responsibility for their asthma. *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice*, 23(3), 182-191.

Nalivaiko, E., Davis, S. L., Blackmore, K. L., **Vakulin, A.,** & Nesbitt, K. V. (2015). Cybersickness provoked by headmounted display affects cutaneous vascular tone, heart rate and reaction time. *Physiology & Behavior,* 1(151), 583-590.

Neumann, R. P., Pillow, J. J., **Thamrin, C.,** Larcombe, A. N., Hall, G. L., & Schulzke, S. M. (2015). Influence of gestational age on dead space and alveolar ventilation in preterm infants ventilated with volume guarantee. *Neonatology*, 107(1), 43-49.

Ng, H. Y., Oliver, B. G., Burgess, J. K., Krymskaya, V. P., Black, J. L., & Moir, L. M. (2015). Doxycycline reduces the migration of tuberous sclerosis complex-2 null cells - effects on RhoA-GTPase and focal adhesion kinase. *Journal of Cellular & Molecular Medicine*, 19(11), 2633-2646.

Ogawa, T., Long, J., **Sutherland, K.**, Chan, A. S., Sasaki, K., & Cistulli, P. A. (2015). Effect of mandibular advancement splint treatment on tongue shape in obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep Breath*, 19(3), 857-863.

Ong, H. X., Traini, D., Loo, C. Y., Sarkissian, L., Lauretani, G., Scalia, S., & Young, P. M. (2015). Is the cellular uptake of respiratory aerosols delivered from different devices equivalent? *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 93, 320-327.

**Ooi, J.,** Gill, C., **Young, P. M., & Traini, D.** (2015). The effects of loaded carrier mass and formulation mass on aerosolization efficiency in dry powder inhaler devices. *Current Drug Delivery,* 12(1), 40-46.

**Ooi, J., Traini, D.**, Boyd, B. J., Gaisford, S., & **Young, P. M.** (2015). Determination of physical and chemical stability in pressurised metered dose inhalers: potential new techniques. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 12(10), 1-15. Patel, B. S., Prabhala, P., **Oliver, B. G.**, & Ammit, A. J. (2015). Inhibitors of Phosphodiesterase 4, but Not Phosphodiesterase 3, Increase beta2-Agonist-Induced Expression of Antiinflammatory Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Phosphatase 1 in Airway Smooth Muscle Cells. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology*, 52(5), 634-640.

Petrus, N. C., **Thamrin, C.**, Fuchs, O., & Frey, U. (2015). Accuracy of tidal breathing measurement of FloRight compared to an ultrasonic flowmeter in infants. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 50(4), 380-388.

**Phillips, C. L.**, Laher, I., & **Yee, B. J.** (2015). Is the kidney yet another potential end-organ casualty of obstructive sleep apnea? *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 192(7), 779-781.

**Piper, A. J.,** & Hollier, C. A. (2015). Non-invasive ventilation in obesity hypoventilation syndrome. In R. C. Basner & S. Parthasarathy (Eds.), *Nocturnal Non-invasive Ventilation: Theory, Evidence and Best Practices* (pp. 83-111): Springer, US.

Prabhala, P., Bunge, K., Rahman, M. M., **Ge, Q.,** Clark, A. R., & Ammit, A. J. (2015). Temporal regulation of cytokine mRNA expression by tristetraprolin: dynamic control by p38 MAPK and MKP-1. *American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, 308(9), L973-980.

Pressman, M. R., **Grunstein, R. R.**, Mahowald, M. W., Schenck, C. H., Montplaisir, J. Y., Bornemann, M. C., **Buchanan, P. R.** (2015). Alcohol and sleep review: Flawed design, methods, and statistics cannot support conclusions. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 39(5), 941-943.

**Reddel, H. K.** (2015). Treatment of overlapping asthmachronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Can guidelines contribute in an evidence-free zone? *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 136(3), 546-552.

**Reddel, H. K.**, Bateman, E. D., Becker, A., Boulet, L. P., Cruz, A. A., Drazen, J. M., FitzGerald, J. M. (2015). A summary of the new GINA strategy: A roadmap to asthma control. *European Respiratory Journal*, 46(3), 622-639.

**Reddel, H. K.,** & Levy, M. L. (2015). The GINA asthma strategy report: what's new for primary care? *NPJ Primary Care Respiratory Medicine*, 25, 15050.

**Reddel, H. K.,** Sawyer, S. M., Everett, P. W., Flood, P. V., & Peters, M. J. (2015). Asthma control in Australia: a cross-sectional web-based survey in a nationally representative population. *Medical Journal of Australia,* 202(9), 492-496.

**Rimmer, J.**, Hellgren, J., & Harvey, R. J. (2015). Simulated postnasal mucus fails to reproduce the symptoms of postnasal drip in rhinitics but only in healthy subjects. *Rhinology*, 53(2), 129-134.

**Rimmer, J., Santos, C., Yli-Panula, E., Noronha, V., & Viander, M.** (2015). Clinical and laboratory studies of the fate of intranasal allergen. *PLoSONE*, 10(5), e0127477.

Sivam, S., Witting, P. K., Hoyos, C. M., Maw, A. M., Yee, B. J., Grunstein, R. R., & Phillips, C. L. (2015). Effects of 8 weeks of CPAP on lipid-based oxidative markers in obstructive sleep apnea: a randomized trial. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 24(3), 339-345.

Sonvico, F., Coleman, V., **Traini, D.**, & **Young, P. M.** (2015). Evolved gas analysis during thermal degradation of salbutamol sulphate. *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry*, 120(1), 789-794.

Stone, A. M., **Wong, K. K.,** & Barnes, D. J. (2015). Blood oxygen equilibration time after cessation of supplemental oxygen in chronic respiratory disease. *Internal Medicine Journal,* 45(1), 26-32.

**Sutherland, K.**, & Cistulli, P. A. (2015). Recent advances in obstructive sleep apnea pathophysiology and treatment. *Sleep and Biological Rhythms*, 13(1), 26-40.

Sutherland, K., Takaya, H., Qian, J., Petocz, P., Ng, A. T., & Cistulli, P. A. (2015). Oral Appliance Treatment Response and Polysomnographic Phenotypes of Obstructive Sleep Apnea. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 11(8), 861-868.

Terpening, Z., Lewis, S. J. G., **Yee, B. J., Grunstein, R. R.**, Hickie, I. B., & Naismith, S. L. (2015). Association between sleep-disordered breathing and neuropsychological performance in older adults with mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 46(1), 157-165.

Todd, G., Haberfield, M., Faulkner, P. L., Hayes, M., Wilcox, R. A., Rae, C. ... **Grunstein, R. R., Yee, B. J.** & Double, K. L. (2015). Upper limb function is normal in patients with restless legs syndrome (Willis-Ekbom Disease). *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 126(4), 736-742.

Tovey, E. R., Stelzer-Braid, S., Toelle, B. G., Oliver, B. G., Reddel, H. K., Willenborg, C. M. ... Garden, F. L., ... Marks, G. B. (2015). Rhinoviruses significantly affect day-to-day respiratory symptoms of children with asthma. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 135(3), 663-669.e612.

**Trotta, V., Lee, W. H., Loo, C. Y.**, Haghi, M., **Young, P. M.**, Scalia, S., & **Traini, D.** (2015). In vitro biological activity of resveratrol using a novel inhalable resveratrol spray-dried formulation. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 491(1-2), 190-197.

Tsingos, C., **Bosnic-Anticevich, S.**, Lonie, J. M., & Smith, L. (2015). A model for assessing reflective practices in pharmacy education. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 79(8), 124.

Woolcock Institute of Medical Research BIENNIAL REPORT 2014 - 2015



Tsingos, C., **Bosnic-Anticevich, S.**, & Smith, L. (2015). Does a learning style preference for processing information through reflection impact on the academic performance of a cohort of undergraduate pharmacy students? *Pharmacy Education*, 15(1), 233-240.

Tsingos, C., **Bosnic-Anticevich, S.**, & Smith, L. (2015). Learning styles and approaches: Can reflective strategies encourage deep learning? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 7(4), 492-504.

Tulbah, A. S., Ong, H. X., Morgan, L., Colombo, P., Young, P. M., & Traini, D. (2015). Dry powder formulation of simvastatin. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 12(6), 857-868.

**Ullah, M. A.**, Revez, J. A., Loh, Z., Simpson, J., Zhang, V., Bain, L., .... **Sukkar, M. B.**, ... Phipps, S. (2015). Allergeninduced IL-6 trans-signaling activates  $\gamma \delta T$  cells to promote type 2 and type 17 airway inflammation. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 136(4), 1065-1073.

Um, I. S., Krass, I., **Armour, C.**, Gill, T., & Chaar, B. B. (2015). Developing and testing evidence-based weight management in Australian pharmacies: A Healthier Life Program. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 37(5), 822-833.

Vos, T., Barber, R. M., Bell, B., Bertozzi-Villa, A., Biryukov, S., Bolliger, I., ... **Marks, G. B.**, ... Murray, C. J. L. (2015). Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990-2013: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *The Lancet*, 386(9995), 743-800.

Walters, E., & **King, G.** (2015). Appropriate use of oxygen in acute medicine. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 203(3), 125.

Wang, D., Bai, X. X., Williams, S. C., Hua, S. C., Kim, J. W., Marshall, N. S. D'Rozario, A. & Grunstein, R. R. (2015). Modafinil increases awake EEG activation and improves performance in obstructive sleep apnea during continuous positive airway pressure withdrawal. *Sleep*, 38(8), 1297-1303.

Wang, D., Lintzeris, N., Leung, S., Haber, P. S., Yee, B. J., & Grunstein, R. R. (2015). Reversal of central sleep apnoea with change from methadone to buprenorphinenaloxone: A case report. *European Respiratory Journal*, 46(4), 1202-1205.

Wang, D., Yee, B. J., & Rowsell, L. (2015). Sleep-Disordered Breathing related Neurocognitive Impairment, Time to Think beyond Hypoxia and Sleep Fragmentation? *Sleep Breath*, 19(1), 23-24. Wang, D., Yee, B. J., Wong, K. K., Kim, J. W., Dijk, D. J., Duffin, J., & Grunstein, R. R. (2015). Comparing the effect of hypercapnia and hypoxia on the electroencephalogram during wakefulness. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 126(1), 103-109.

Young, P. M., Salama, R. O., Zhu, B., Phillips, G., Crapper, J., Chan, H. K., & Traini, D. (2015). Multi-breath dry powder inhaler for delivery of cohesive powders in the treatment of bronchiectasis. *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy*, 41(5), 859-865.

Zheng, M., Allman-Farinelli, M., Heitmann, B. L., **Toelle**, **B., Marks, G.**, Cowell, C., & Rangan, A. (2015). Liquid versus solid energy intake in relation to body composition among Australian children. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*, 28 Suppl. 2, 70-79.

**Zhu, B., Haghi, M.,** Goud, M., **Young, P. M., & Traini, D.** (2015). The formulation of a pressurized metered dose inhaler containing theophylline for inhalation. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 76, 68-72.

Zhu, B., Haghi, M., Nguyen, A., Goud, M., Yeung, S., Young, P. M., & Traini, D. (2015). Delivery of theophylline as dry powder for inhalation. *Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 10(6), 520-527.

**Zhu, B., Xu, N., Traini, D.,** Lewis, D., & **Young, P. M.** (2015). The Formation of Aerosol Particles from Solution-Based Pressurized Metered Dose Inhalers and Implications of Incomplete Droplet Drying: Theoretical and Experimental Comparison. *Aerosol Science and Technology*, 49(11), 1090-1099.

**Zhu, B., Young, P. M., Ong, H. X.**, Crapper, J., Flodin, C., Qiao, E. L., Phillips, G. & **Traini, D.** (2015). Tuning Aerosol Performance Using the Multibreath Orbital(R) Dry Powder Inhaler Device: Controlling Delivery Parameters and Aerosol Performance via Modification of Puck Orifice Geometry. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 104(7), 2169-2176.

#### WOOLCOCK INSTITUTE OF MEDICAL RESEARCH

#### Sydney

431 Glebe Point Road Glebe, Sydney NSW 2037, Australia T: +61 2 9114 0000 F: +61 2 9114 0010 E: info@woolcock.org.au www.woolcock.org.au

#### WOOLCOCK INSTITUTE OF MEDICAL RESEARCH - VIETNAM

#### Hanoi

Apartment 203, Building 2G, Van Phuc Diplomatic Compound 298 Kim Ma Street, Ba Dinh district Ha Noi City, Viet Nam T: (84-4) 3247 4464 F: (84-4) 3762 1884 www.woolcockvietnam.org

